ROYCE VALUE TRUST, INC
Form N-Q
November 26, 2018
UNITED STATES

SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION

Washington, D.C. 20549

FORM N-Q

QUARTERLY SCHEDULE OF PORTFOLIO HOLDINGS OF REGISTERED

MANAGEMENT INVESTMENT COMPANY

Investment Company Act File Number: 811-04875

Name of Fund: Royce Value Trust, Inc. Fund Address: 745 Fifth Avenue

New York, NY 10151

Name and address of agent for service:

John E. Denneen, Esq.

Royce & Associates, LP

745 Fifth Avenue

New York, NY 10151

Registrant's telephone number, including area code: (212) 508-4500

Date of fiscal year end: 12/31/2018

Date of reporting period: 9/30/2018

Item 1 - Schedule of Investments

SCHEDULE OF INVESTMENTS ROYCE VALUE TRUST SEPTEMBER 30, 2018 (UNAUDITED)

Diversified Consumer Services - 0.3%

COMMON STOCKS 96.4%	SHARES	VALUE
Communication Services 1.8%		
Entertainment - 0.1% Global Eagle Entertainment Rosetta Stone 1	110,000 40,000	\$ 310,200 795,600
		1,105,800
Interactive Media & Services - 0.3% QuinStreet TripAdvisor 1	180,254 50,000	2,446,047 2,553,500
		4,999,547
Media - 1.0% Cable One comScore Gray Television Liberty Latin America Cl. C Pico Far East Holdings	3,885 390,836 50,000 246,300 2,612,400	3,432,825 7,124,940 875,000 5,081,169 1,027,827
		17,541,761
Wireless Telecommunication Services - 0.4% Boingo Wireless Telephone and Data Systems	50,000 165,270	1,745,000 5,029,166
		6,774,166
Total		30,421,274
Consumer Discretionary 9.7% Auto Components - 1.0%		
Dorman Products 1 Gentex Corporation LCI Industries Standard Motor Products	103,000 62,500 73,616 13,391	7,922,760 1,341,250 6,095,405 659,105
Automobiles - 0.5%		10,010,020
Thor Industries	100,430	8,405,991
Distributors - 1.4% Core-Mark Holding Company LKQ Corporation 1 Weyco Group	416,100 171,200 97,992	14,130,756 5,421,904 3,447,358 23,000,018
D' '' 10 0 1 000'		

Collectors Universe Houghton Mifflin Harcourt Liberty Tax Cl. A Universal Technical Institute Universal Technical Institute	71,100 100,000 151,573 504,032	1,052,280 700,000 1,765,826 1,340,725
		4,858,831
Hotels, Restaurants & Leisure - 0.2% Lindblad Expeditions Holdings 1	207,600	3,087,012
Household Durables - 1.0% Cavco Industries 1/2 Ethan Allen Interiors HG Holdings 1, 2, 3/2 Natuzzi ADR 1/2 Purple Innovation 1/2 Purple Innovation (Warrants) 1, 4/2 Skyline Champion TopBuild Corporation 1/2	14,700 200,000 912,235 2,096,300 225,000 750,000 70,400 29,300	3,719,100 4,150,000 446,995 2,871,931 1,305,000 142,500 2,011,328 1,664,826
		16,311,680
Internet & Direct Marketing Retail - 1.0% Etsy FTD Companies Shutterfly Stamps.com zooplus 1	68,100 298,014 29,400 35,700 10,700	3,498,978 783,777 1,937,166 8,075,340 1,859,759 16,155,020
Leisure Products - 0.5% Nautilus <u>1</u>	574,500	8,014,275
Specialty Retail - 2.8% America s Car-Mart AutoCanada Barnes & Noble Camping World Holdings Cl. A Container Store Group (The) 1 Destination Maternity 1 Monro Signet Jewelers TravelCenters of America LLC 1	120,000 513,000 67,000 706,913 158,200 557,967 139,000 35,000 62,500	9,384,000 5,413,379 388,600 15,071,385 1,756,020 2,600,126 9,674,400 2,307,550 356,250
		46,951,710
Textiles, Apparel & Luxury Goods - 1.0% Culp J.G. Boswell Company ² Wolverine World Wide	29,400 3,940 348,900	711,480 2,564,940 13,624,545
		16,900,965
Total		159,704,022

Consumer Staples 1.5% Beverages - 0.1%

Compania Cervecerias Unidas ADR	64,500	1,799,550
Food Products - 1.2% Cal-Maine Foods Farmer Bros. Nomad Foods Seneca Foods Cl. A Seneca Foods Cl. B SunOpta Tootsie Roll Industries	46,416 54,700 125,000 226,560 13,840 50,000 165,529	2,241,893 1,444,080 2,532,500 7,635,072 442,880 367,500 4,841,723
		19,505,648
Personal Products - 0.2% Inter Parfums	57,630	3,714,254
Total		25,019,452
Energy 5.9% Energy Equipment & Services - 4.7% CARBO Ceramics 1 Computer Modelling Group Diamond Offshore Drilling 1 Era Group 1 Forum Energy Technologies 1 Frank s International Helmerich & Payne ION Geophysical 1 Oil States International 1 Pason Systems Patterson-UTI Energy Precision Drilling 1	78,000 594,350 214,000 564,693 249,431 108,600 94,000 71,880 10,000 607,680 35,050 93,900	565,500 3,888,250 4,280,000 6,973,959 2,581,611 942,648 6,464,380 1,117,734 332,000 9,216,468 599,706 324,894
SEACOR Holdings 1 SEACOR Marine Holdings 1 TGS-NOPEC Geophysical Trican Well Service 1 Unit Corporation 1	150,469 638,834 377,170 897,300 15,000	7,434,673 14,456,813 15,371,806 1,604,740 390,900 76,546,082
Oil, Gas & Consumable Fuels - 1.2% Dorchester Minerals L.P. Dorian LPG 1 GeoPark 1 International Petroleum 1 Pryce Corporation San Juan Basin Royalty Trust World Fuel Services WPX Energy 1	279,148 394,936 53,200 100,000 2,738,100 212,272 224,227 110,000	5,694,619 3,147,640 1,085,280 654,860 291,395 1,052,869 6,206,603 2,213,200 20,346,466
Total		96,892,548
Financials 14.9% Banks - 2.8% Bank of N.T. Butterfield & Son Canadian Western Bank	228,416 279,500	11,845,654 7,378,895

Farmers & Merchants Bank of Long Beach ² Fauquier Bankshares First Citizens BancShares Cl. A Metro Bank ¹ Webster Financial	1,080 160,800 14,676 20,000 116,800	9,180,000 4,069,848 6,637,661 775,263 6,886,528
		46,773,849
Capital Markets - 7.2% Ares Management L.P. Artisan Partners Asset Management Cl. A ASA Gold and Precious Metals	577,600 264,900 199,821	13,400,320 8,582,760 1,772,412
Ashmore Group Associated Capital Group Cl. A Bolsa Mexicana de Valores Cowen 1	1,354,000 20,200 1,723,106 62,706	6,423,887 859,510 3,525,581 1,022,108
Dundee Corporation Cl. A 1 Edmond de Rothschild (Suisse) GMP Capital Hamilton Lane Cl. A	1,079,900 153 287,100 13,800	1,471,470 2,556,756 506,784 611,064
Jupiter Fund Management Lazard Cl. A Manning & Napier Cl. A MarketAxess Holdings	230,000 104,935 395,692 51,600	1,215,017 5,050,522 1,167,291 9,210,084
Morningstar MVC Capital Oaktree Capital Group LLC CI. A Qalaa Holdings 1 Rothschild & Co	84,600 195,688 279,700 7,749,921 92,293	10,651,140 1,888,389 11,579,580 1,336,342 3,911,224
SEI Investments Sprott TMX Group U.S. Global Investors Cl. A Value Partners Group	148,500 1,927,000 40,700 520,551 5,453,000	9,073,350 4,490,590 2,731,609 791,238 4,339,636
Virtu Financial CI. A Westwood Holdings Group	407,000 38,850	8,323,150 2,010,099
		118,501,913
Diversified Financial Services - 0.1% First Pacific Waterloo Investment Holdings 1, 4	1,020,000 2,972,000	502,941 891,600
		1,394,541
Insurance - 3.2% E-L Financial Erie Indemnity CI. A Independence Holding Company MBIA 1 ProAssurance Corporation RLI Corp. Trupanion 1	22,500 25,000 259,223 942,400 163,839 57,200 87,900	14,201,312 3,188,250 9,306,106 10,074,256 7,692,241 4,494,776 3,140,667
Investment Companies - 0.6% Landcadia Holdings Cl. A 1 RIT Capital Partners	94,850 41,000	1,028,174 1,090,164
Social Capital Hedosophia Holdings Cl. A 1	819,918	8,125,387

		10,243,725
Thrifts & Mortgage Finance - 1.0% Axos Financial 1 Genworth MI Canada Timberland Bancorp Vestin Realty Mortgage II 1, 2	16,300 225,895 288,857 34	560,557 7,448,510 9,023,893 40,800
		17,073,760
Total		246,085,396
Health Care 4.8% Biotechnology - 0.5% AMAG Pharmaceuticals 1 Sangamo Therapeutics 1 Zealand Pharma 1	33,800 65,815 408,857	676,000 1,115,564 6,696,626
Zodiana i nama _	100,007	8,488,190
Health Care Equipment & Supplies - 2.1%		0,400,100
Atrion Corporation DENTSPLY SIRONA Hill-Rom Holdings Integer Holdings Masimo Corporation Merit Medical Systems Neogen Corporation Surmodics Surmodics Atrion Corporation Little Little	15,750 5,000 5,000 42,400 50,000 20,000 22,400 138,500	10,943,100 188,700 472,000 3,517,080 6,227,000 1,229,000 1,602,272 10,339,025
		34,518,177
Health Care Providers & Services - 0.2% Community Health Systems <u>1</u>	790,000	2,733,400
Health Care Technology - 1.0% athenahealth ½ Medidata Solutions ½	32,500 174,250	4,342,000 12,774,267
		17,116,267
Life Sciences Tools & Services - 0.9% Bio-Rad Laboratories Cl. A <u>1</u> Bio-Techne	34,198 19,843	10,703,632 4,050,155
		14,753,787
Pharmaceuticals - 0.1% Alimera Sciences Theravance Biopharma The	199,186 34,291	195,202 1,120,287
		1,315,489
Total		78,925,310

Industrials 29.1% Aerospace & Defense - 3.5% Ducommun 1	117,200	4,786,448
HEICO Corporation	260,346	24,110,643
HEICO Corporation Cl. A Hexcel Corporation	157,827 51,400	11,915,938 3,446,370
Magellan Aerospace	96,800	1,360,214
Teledyne Technologies 1	5,900	1,455,412
Wesco Aircraft Holdings 1	935,364	10,522,845
		57,597,870
Air Freight & Logistics - 1.4%		
Expeditors International of Washington	143,000	10,514,790
Forward Air	170,750	12,242,775
		22,757,565
Building Products - 0.3%		
Burnham Holdings Cl. B 2	36,000	533,160
Patrick Industries 1	15,775	933,880
Simpson Manufacturing	59,900	4,340,354
		5,807,394
Commercial Services & Supplies - 2.1%		
Atento	188,700	1,415,250
CECO Environmental <u>1</u> CompX International CI. A	99,028 211,100	780,341 2,870,960
Copart 1	125,400	6,461,862
Heritage-Crystal Clean 1	100,106	2,137,263
Kimball International Cl. B	286,180	4,793,515
Mobile Mini PICO Holdings	105,000 409,400	4,604,250 5,137,970
Ritchie Bros. Auctioneers	54,900	1,983,537
Steelcase Cl. A	40,000	740,000
UniFirst Corporation	22,270	3,867,185
		34,792,133
Construction & Engineering - 3.5%	.	
EMCOR Group IES Holdings 1	65,800 594,244	4,942,238
Infrastructure and Energy Alternatives 1	550,000	11,587,758 5,775,000
Infrastructure and Energy Alternatives	000,000	3,773,000
(Warrants) 1	625,000	1,056,250
Jacobs Engineering Group	169,900	12,997,350
KBR Sterling Construction 1	337,400 122,300	7,129,262 1,751,336
Valmont Industries	75,345	10,435,283
Williams Industrial Services Group 1, 2	631,820	1,295,231
		56,969,708
Electrical Equipment - 0.7%	_	
AZZ LSI Industries	5,000 263,000	252,500 1,209,800
nVent Electric	25,000	679,000
Powell Industries	94,500	3,426,570
Preformed Line Products	91,600	6,437,648

		12,005,518
Industrial Conglomerates - 0.7% Raven Industries	251,725	11,516,419
Machinery - 10.7% CIRCOR International ¹ Colfax Corporation ¹ Donaldson Company Franklin Electric Graco Hyster-Yale Materials Handling Cl. A IDEX Corporation John Bean Technologies Kadant Kennametal Lincoln Electric Holdings Lindsay Corporation NN Nordson Corporation Proto Labs ¹ RBC Bearings ¹ Sun Hydraulics Tennant Company Titan International Watts Water Technologies Cl. A Westinghouse Air Brake Technologies Woodward	160,184 82,242 193,559 182,300 241,028 10,000 53,900 87,826 78,100 160,100 131,360 110,000 24,296 10,000 109,600 351,118 111,900 173,100 61,000 73,100 104,600	7,608,740 2,965,647 11,276,747 8,613,675 11,169,238 615,300 8,120,574 10,477,642 8,423,085 6,973,956 12,274,278 11,026,400 4,815,720 3,374,714 1,617,500 16,479,456 19,234,244 8,498,805 1,284,402 5,063,000 7,666,728 8,457,956
Marine - 1.7% Clarkson Eagle Bulk Shipping Kirby Corporation	371,100 320,478 169,900	176,037,807 13,059,680 1,801,086 13,974,275 28,835,041
Professional Services - 1.2% ASGN 1 ManpowerGroup Quess Corporation 1 TrueBlue 1	106,700 107,200 15,720 56,245	8,421,831 9,214,912 193,003 1,465,182
Road & Rail - 1.7% Genesee & Wyoming Cl. A Knight-Swift Transportation Holdings Cl. A Landstar System Patriot Transportation Holding Saia Universal Logistics Holdings	15,000 122,400 116,760 139,100 40,000 78,916	1,364,850 4,220,352 14,244,720 2,658,201 3,058,000 2,904,109 28,450,232
Trading Companies & Distributors - 1.6% Air Lease Cl. A	303,200	13,910,816

Central Steel and Wire (Escrow) 1,4 Houston Wire & Cable 1,3 SiteOne Landscape Supply 1 Watsco	4,862 877,363 25,000 20,400	148,243 6,755,695 1,883,500 3,633,240
		26,331,494
Total		480,396,109
Information Technology 17.2% Communications Equipment - 0.3%		
ADTRAN Mitel Networks 1	214,973 100,000	3,794,273 1,102,000
		4,896,273
Electronic Equipment, Instruments & Components - 9.3%	63 705	1 181 788
Anixter International 1 Cognex Corporation Coherent 1 eMagin Corporation (Warrants) 1, 4 Fabrinet 1	63,795 350,600 60,400 50,000 222,600	4,484,788 19,570,492 10,400,276 0 10,297,476
FARO Technologies <u>1</u> FLIR Systems Horiba	179,437 611,637 12,000	11,546,771 37,597,326 635,804
IPG Photonics 1 Littelfuse National Instruments nLIGHT 1	51,100 23,900 261,850 144,400	7,975,177 4,729,571 12,655,211 3,207,124
Perceptron 1 Plexus Corporation 1 Richardson Electronics Rogers Corporation 1	357,700 150,600 573,732 32,366	3,487,575 8,811,606 5,031,630 4,768,159
TTM Technologies 1	496,400	7,897,724
		153,096,710
IT Services - 0.7% Conduent 1 Hackett Group (The)	20,000 417,266	450,400 8,407,910
Innodata 1 Unisys Corporation 1	8,498 160,000	12,492 3,264,000
		12,134,802
Semiconductors & Semiconductor Equipment - 4.2% Advanced Energy Industries 1	20,000	1,033,000
Brooks Automation Cabot Microelectronics	407,700 37,600	14,281,731 3,879,192
Cirrus Logic 1 Cohu	125,000 102,250	4,825,000 2,566,475
Diodes 1	270,850	9,016,596
Entegris Kulicke & Soffa Industries	241,300 66,200	6,985,635 1,578,208
MKS Instruments Nova Measuring Instruments 1	56,510 39,500	4,529,277 1,039,245
Photronics 1	183,700	1,809,445
Rudolph Technologies 1 Silicon Motion Technology ADR	84,500 25,000	2,066,025 1,342,500

Teradyne	130,000	4,807,400
Universal Display	20,650	2,434,635
Veeco Instruments 1	17,500	179,375
Versum Materials	177,600	6,395,376

46

COMMON STOCK OWNERSHIP BY MANAGEMENT AND PRINCIPAL STOCKHOLDERS

The following table sets forth information regarding the beneficial ownership of our common stock as of November 1, 2002, by (i) each person known to us to be the beneficial owner of more than 5% of our common stock, (ii) each member of our board of directors, (iii) our executive officers, and (iv) all current directors and executive officers as a group, based in each case on information furnished to us by such persons or entities. We believe that each of the named individuals has sole voting and investment power with regard to the shares shown except as otherwise noted.

Name and Address of Beneficial Owner	Number of Shares Beneficially Owned ⁽¹⁾	Percent of Class Owned
Robert P. Scherer, Jr. ⁽²⁾	2,657,835	60.3%
RPS Investments, Inc. (2)	1,244,234.5	28.3
Settlement Voting Trust ⁽²⁾⁽³⁾	562,738.5	12.8
SunTrust Bank ⁽⁴⁾	340,212	7.7
Stephen L. Lukas, Sr. (5)	3,000	*
Kenneth H. Robertson ⁽⁶⁾	3,000	*
Joel M. Segal ⁽⁷⁾	129,210	2.9
William J. Thompson ⁽⁸⁾	75,000	1.7
All current directors and executive officers as a group (6 persons) ⁽⁹⁾	2,881,379	64.1%

Indicates beneficial ownership of less than one percent.

Beneficial ownership as reported in the table has been determined in accordance with SEC regulations and, as a result, certain outstanding shares are deemed to be beneficially owned by more than one person or entity.

The shares shown as owned by Mr. Scherer include 1,244,234.5 shares owned by RPS Investments, Inc. As chairman and sole stockholder of RPS Investments, Inc., Mr. Scherer is deemed to be the beneficial owner of the shares. The shares shown also include 562,738.5 shares held by a Settlement Voting Trust for the benefit of Mr. Scherer's four adult children. Mr. Scherer is the trustee of the Settlement Voting Trust and entitled to vote the shares. The shares shown also include 340,212 shares that Mr. Scherer holds as co-trustee with SunTrust Bank of a residuary trust for the benefit of his family. Mr. Scherer and SunTrust Bank share voting and investment power with regard to such shares. The shares shown as owned by Mr. Scherer includes 16,667 shares issuable upon exercise of options that will be exercisable within 60 days of November 1, 2002. The address for Mr. Scherer, RPS Investments, Inc., and the Settlement Voting Trust is 4403 Northside Parkway, Suite 1103, Atlanta, Georgia 30327.

(3)

The shares shown are held in a Settlement Voting Trust for the benefit of Mr. Scherer's four adult children with Mr. Scherer as trustee. Mr. Scherer is entitled to vote the shares held in the Settlement Voting Trust. See Note (2) above.

- (4)

 The shares shown are beneficially owned by SunTrust Bank as co-trustee with Mr. Scherer of a residuary trust for the benefit of Mr. Scherer's family and voting and investment power is shared with Mr. Scherer, co-trustee of the residuary trust. See Note (2) above. SunTrust Bank's address is 25 Park Place, N.E., Atlanta, Georgia 30303.
- (5)
 The business address for Mr. Lukas is c/o Omnipharm, 50 Rue de Rhone, 1204 Geneva, Switzerland.
- (6) The business address for Mr. Robertson is c/o Robertson & Partners, 855 S. Federal Highway, Suite 206, Boca Raton, Florida 33432.
- (7)
 The business address for Mr. Segal is 1040 Park Ave., New York, New York 10028.

47

- (8) The business address for Mr. Thompson is 9122 E. Mohawk Lane, Scottsdale, AZ 85255. The shares shown as owned by Mr. Thompson are issuable upon exercise of options that will be exercisable within 60 days.
- (9) The shares shown include 2,147,185 shares with respect to which voting or investment power is shared and 105,001 shares issuable upon exercise of options that will be exercisable within 60 days. See Notes above.

48

FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

The information in this proxy statement contains forward-looking statements within the meaning of Section 27A of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, and Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended. Statements that are not historical in nature, including statements about beliefs and expectations, are forward-looking statements. Forward-looking statements include statements preceded by, followed by or that include the words "may", "will", "should", "estimates", "predicts", "potential", "continue", "strategy", "believes", "anticipates", "plans", "expects", "intends" and similar expressions. The forward-looking statements in this proxy statement regarding us and Stericycle, including the combined company following the merger, relate to:

general economic conditions;
changes in applicable laws and regulations;

industry trends;

dependence upon and/or loss of key employees;

reliance on union employees and ability to negotiate acceptable collective bargaining agreements with the labor unions;

vendors or customers;

loss of strategic product shipping relationships;

customer demand;

product availability;

competition (including pricing and availability);

operating efficiencies or synergies;

concentrations of credit risks;

distribution efficiencies;

capacity constraints; and

technological difficulties.

You should not place undue reliance on these forward-looking statements, which speak only as of the date of this proxy statement. These statements are based upon current expectations. We undertake no obligation to publicly update or revise any forward-looking statement, whether as a result of future events, new information or otherwise. All forward-looking statements are subject to risks and uncertainties that could cause actual events to differ materially from those projected. Further, we cannot assess the impact of each such factor on our business or the extent to which any factor, or combination of factors, may cause actual results to differ materially from those contained in any forward-looking statements. Important factors that might cause or contribute to such a discrepancy include, but are not limited to:

the extent of Stericycle's ability to integrate our operations with theirs;

the effects of vigorous competition with larger and better-established companies in the markets in which we and Stericycle operate;

the impact of technological change on our business and that of Stericycle, and new entrants and alternative technologies in our respective markets and businesses;

the effect of any unknown liabilities of ours or Stericycle that materialize after the transaction;

the impact of the change in management following the closing of the transaction; and

other risks referenced from time to time in our filings with the SEC, including our annual report on Form 10-K for our fiscal year ended March 31, 2002.

49

FUTURE STOCKHOLDER PROPOSALS

We intend to hold an annual meeting in 2003 only if the merger is not completed. Proposals of stockholders, including nominations for our board of directors, intended to be represented at the 2003 annual meeting of stockholders, in the event that it is held, should be submitted by certified mail, return receipt requested, and must be received at our executive offices on or before April 17, 2003, to be eligible for inclusion in our proxy statement and form of proxy relating to that meeting and to be introduced for action at the meeting.

WHERE YOU CAN FIND MORE INFORMATION

Stericycle and we file annual, quarterly and special reports, proxy statements and other information with the SEC. You may read and copy any reports, statements or other information filed with the SEC file at the SEC's public reference room at 450 Fifth Street, Washington, D.C., 20549. Please call the SEC at 1-800-SEC-0330 for further information on the public reference rooms. You may also obtain copies of this information by mail from the Public Reference Section of the SEC, 450 Fifth Street, N.W., Room 1024, at prescribed rates. Public filings with the SEC are also available from commercial document retrieval services and at the web site maintained by the SEC at www.sec.gov.

We have supplied all information in this proxy statement relating to Scherer Healthcare, Inc. and its subsidiaries. Stericycle has supplied all information in this proxy statement relating to Stericycle, Inc. and Sharps Acquisition. Houlihan Lokey has supplied the information regarding its fairness opinion.

By Order of the Board of Directors,

/s/ Donald P. Zima Donald P. Zima Vice President and Chief Financial Officer

Atlanta, Georgia

, 2002

50

ANNEX A

AGREEMENT AND PLAN OF MERGER

dated as of October 19, 2002

entered into by

Stericycle, Inc.,

Sharps Acquisition Corporation

and

Scherer Healthcare, Inc.

A-1

Table of Contents

	Table of Contents	
	Article 1	
	Definitions	5
	Article 2 The Transaction	
	N.	
2.1	Merger	5
2.2	Closing	5
2.3	Closing Events	5
	(a) Certificate of Merger	5
	(b) Deliveries by Company	6
2.4	(c) Deliveries by Parent and Merger Sub	6
2.4	Effects of Merger	6
	(a) General	6
	(b) Corporate Organization	6
	(c) Conversion of Company Shares	6
	(d) Company Treasury Shares	6
	(e) Conversion of MergerSub's Stock	7
2.5	Exchange Fund Procedures	7
	(a) Exchange Fund	7
	(b) Exchange Procedures	7
	(c) No Further Ownership Rights	8
	(d) Termination of Exchange Fund	8
	(e) No Liability	8
	(f) Lost Certificates	8
	(g) Stock Transfer Books	8
	(h) Appraisal Rights	8
	(i) Stock Options	9
	Article 3	
	Representations and Warranties of Company	7
2.1	Organization	10
3.1		10
3.2	Authority	10
3.3	Enforceability	10
3.4	Capital Stock	10
3.5	No Violation	11
3.6	No Consent Required	12
3.7	SEC Reports and Financial Statements	12
3.8	Equipment	12
3.9	Contracts	12
3.10	Real Property	14
3.11	Permits	14

3.12	Intellectual Property		15
3.13	Undisclosed Liabilities		15
3.14	Taxes		15
3.15 3.16	No Material Adverse Change Employee Benefits		16 16
3.17	Insurance		16
3.18	Compliance		17
	A-2		
3.19	Legal Proceedings	17	
3.20	Absence of Certain Events	17	
3.21	Environmental Matters	18	
3.22	Employees	19	
3.23	Labor Relations	19	
3.24 3.25	Broker's Fee Takeover Statutes	19 19	
3.26	Proxy Statement	19	
3.27	Vote Required	20	
3.28	Opinion of Financial Advisor	20	
	•		
	Article 4		
R	epresentations and Warranties of Parent and		
	MergerSub		
4.1		20	
4.1 4.2	Organization Authority	20 20	
4.2	Enforceability	20	
4.4	No Violation	21	
4.5	No Consent Required	21	
4.6	SEC Reports and Financial Statements	21	
4.7	Broker's Fee	21	
4.8	MergerSub Formation	21	
4.9	Proxy Statement	22	
4.10 4.11	Board Approval Vote Required	22 22	
4.11	Compliance with Applicable Laws;	22	
7.12	Regulatory Matters	22	
4.13	Ownership of Company Shares	22	
4.14	Financing	22	
	Article 5		
	Events Prior to Closing		
5.1	General	23	
5.2	Conduct of Business by Company	23	
5.3	Stockholders Meeting	23	
5.4	Approvals and Consents; Cooperation	24	
5.5	Access to Information	24	
5.6	Notice of Developments	24	
5.7	Acquisition Proposals	25	
5.8	Public Announcements	26	
5.9	Employee Matters	26	
5.10	Fees and Expenses	26	
	Autiala C		
	Article 6 Conditions to Closing		
	Conditions to Closing		
6.1	Conditions of Parent and MergerSub	26	
6.2	Conditions of Company	27	
	Article 7	28	

Non-Survival of Representations, Warranties and Agreements

No Other Representations and Warranties

A-3

	Article 8	
	Termination, Amendment and Waiver	
	Termination, Amenument and Warver	
8.1	Termination by Company or Parent	28
8.2	Termination by Company	29
8.3	Termination by Parent	29
8.4	Effect of Termination	29
8.5	Amendment	30
8.6	Extension and Waiver	30
	Article 9	
	Events Following Merger	
9.1	Continuing Indemnification	30
9.2	Certain Records	31
9.3	Performance by MergerSub	31
	Article 10	
	Miscellaneous	
10.1	Confidentiality	32
10.2	Notices	32
10.3	Entire Agreement	33
10.4	Assignment	33
10.5	No Third Party Beneficiaries	33
10.6	Severability	33
10.7	Captions	33
10.8	Construction	33
10.9	Counterparts	33
10.10	Governing Law; Jurisdiction; Waiver of Jury	
	Trial	34
10.11	Binding Effect	34
	Annex I	
	Definitions	A-I-1
	Exhibits	
	2	
Form of	Amendment and Restatement of Company's	
Certifica	A-A-1	
Cerunica	A-A-1	
	A-4	

Agreement and Plan of Merger

This Agreement and Plan of Merger (this "Agreement") is entered into as of October 19, 2002 by Stericycle, Inc., a Delaware corporation ("Parent"), Sharps Acquisition Corporation, a Delaware corporation and wholly owned subsidiary of Parent ("MergerSub"), and Scherer Healthcare, Inc., a Delaware corporation ("Company").

WHEREAS, this Agreement contemplates a transaction in which Parent will acquire all of the outstanding capital stock of Company for cash through a reverse merger of MergerSub with and into

Company.

WHEREAS, the respective boards of directors of Parent, MergerSub and Company have approved, and deem it advisable and in the best interests of their respective stockholders to consummate, this Agreement and the merger of MergerSub with and into Company pursuant to this Agreement.

WHEREAS, the board of directors of Company, based upon the unanimous recommendation of a special committee of the board of directors (the "Special Committee"), has resolved to recommend that the stockholders of Company adopt this Agreement and approve the consummation of the merger of Company with MergerSub pursuant to this Agreement.

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of their mutual promises and intending to be legally bound, the Parties agree as follows:

Article 1 Definitions

Certain capitalized terms used in this Agreement are defined in Annex I.

Article 2 The Transaction

2.1 Merger

Upon the terms and subject to the conditions of this Agreement, MergerSub shall merge with and into Company (the "Merger") at the Effective Time. The separate corporate existence of MergerSub shall cease, and Company shall be the corporation surviving the Merger (the "Surviving Corporation"), and shall succeed to and assume all of the rights and obligations of MergerSub in accordance with the DGCL.

2.2 Closing

Upon the terms and subject to the conditions set forth in this Agreement, the closing of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement ("Closing") shall take place at the offices of [name of law firm] at 10:00 a.m. on the second business day following the satisfaction or waiver of all of the Parent Closing Conditions and all of the Company Closing Conditions (except for those that by their nature are to be satisfied at Closing), or at such other place, time and date as shall be agreed in writing by the Parties (the "Closing Date").

2.3 Closing Events

At Closing, the following events shall take place, all of which shall be considered to take place concurrently:

(a) Certificate of Merger

The Company shall execute and acknowledge a certificate of merger consistent with the terms of this Agreement and otherwise in form and substance reasonably satisfactory to the Parties (the

A-5

[&]quot;Certificate of Merger"), and shall file the Certificate of Merger in the office of the Secretary of State of the State of Delaware, as provided in the DGCL.

(b) Deliveries by Company

Company shall deliver to Parent and MergerSub an Officer's Certificate certifying that all of the Company Closing Conditions have been either satisfied or waived.

(c) Deliveries by Parent and MergerSub

Parent and MergerSub shall make or cause the following deliveries to Company:

- (1) Parent and MergerSub shall have deposited the Merger Consideration with the Paying Agent in accordance with Section 2.5; and
- (2) Parent and MergerSub shall deliver an Officer's Certificate certifying that all of the Parent Closing Conditions have been either satisfied or waived.

2.4 Effect of Merger

(a) General

The Merger shall become effective at the time (the "Effective Time") that the Certificate of Merger is duly filed in the office of the Secretary of State of the State of Delaware or at such later time as the parties hereto may agree and is provided in the Certificate of Merger. The Merger shall have the effects described in Section 259 of the DGCL. The Surviving Corporation may, at any time after the Effective Time, take any action (including executing and delivering any document) in the name and on behalf of either Company or MergerSub in order to carry out and give effect to the Merger.

(b) Corporate Organization

As of the Effective Time, Company's certificate of incorporation as in effect immediately prior to the Effective Time shall be amended in its entirety as attached hereto as **Exhibit A**, and as so amended, shall be the certificate of incorporation of the Surviving Corporation. As of the Effective Time, the bylaws, directors and officers of MergerSub immediately prior to the Effective Time shall be the bylaws, directors and officers of the Surviving Corporation.

(c) Conversion of Company Shares

At the Effective Time, by virtue of the Merger and without any action on the part of any Stockholder or any holder of capital stock of Parent or MergerSub, each Company Share shall be converted into the right to receive an amount (the "Merger Consideration"), payable upon surrender of the Company Stock Certificate representing the share pursuant to Section 2.5(b), as follows:

- (1) each share of Company Preferred Stock issued and outstanding immediately prior to the Effective Time (other than a Dissenting Share or a share held in treasury by Company) shall be converted into the right to receive, in cash (without interest), an amount per share equal to the Preferred Stock Merger Consideration, and all such shares of Company Preferred Stock shall automatically be canceled and cease to exist; and
- (2) each share of Company Common Stock issued and outstanding immediately prior to the Effective Time (other than a Dissenting Share or a share held in treasury by Company) shall be converted into the right to receive, in cash (without interest), an amount per share equal to the Common Stock Merger Consideration, and all such shares of Company Common Stock shall automatically be canceled and cease to exist.

(d) Company Treasury Shares

At the Effective Time, by virtue of the Merger and without any action on the part of any Stockholder or any holder of capital stock of Parent or MergerSub, each share of Company Common Stock and Company Preferred Stock held in treasury by Company shall be automatically canceled and cease to exist, and no payment of Merger Consideration shall be made in respect of the share.

(e) Conversion of MergerSub's Stock

At the Effective Time, by virtue of the Merger and without any action on the part of any Stockholder or any holder of capital stock of Parent or MergerSub, each share of MergerSub's common stock, par value \$.01 per share, shall be converted into one fully paid and nonassessable share of common stock of the Surviving Corporation.

2.5 Exchange Fund and Procedures

(a) Exchange Fund

Prior to the Effective Time, Parent shall appoint a commercial bank or trust company reasonably acceptable to Company to act as the paying agent (the "Paying Agent") for the purpose of exchanging Company Shares for Merger Consideration. At or prior to the Effective Time, Parent shall deposit with the Paying Agent, in trust for the benefit of holders of Company Shares and Company Stock Options, cash sufficient in the aggregate for the Paying Agent to make full payment of the Merger Consideration payable pursuant to Section 2.4(c) and any amounts payable pursuable to Section 2.5(i) (net of any required withholding of taxes). This deposit shall be invested by the Paying Agent as directed by Parent, and any interest or other income resulting from the investment shall be Parent's sole and exclusive property and shall be paid to Parent upon demand. No part of such interest or income shall accrue to the benefit of holders of Company Shares.

(b) Exchange Procedures

The Surviving Corporation shall cause the Paying Agent, as soon as reasonably practicable after the Effective Time, to mail to each registered holder of Company Shares immediately prior to the Effective Time (i) a letter of transmittal in customary form and containing such other provisions as Parent reasonably may require (a "Letter of Transmittal") and (ii) instructions for surrendering the stock certificate or certificates representing the holder's Company Shares (each a "Company Stock Certificate") in exchange for the Merger Consideration payable in respect of the holder's certificate or certificates which immediately prior to the Effective Time represented outstanding Company Shares which were converted into the right to receive the Merger Consideration. The Proxy Statement shall provide that, in lieu of delivery following the Effective Time as aforesaid, and commencing on the tenth (10th) calendar day prior to the date of the Stockholders Meeting, the Letter of Transmittal and instructions for use will be promptly delivered by the Paying Agent to each prior holder of Company Shares from whom the Paying Agent receives a written request therefor prior to the date of the Stockholders Meeting, and that each such prior holder of Company Shares shall be entitled thereafter to surrender its Company Stock Certificate in accordance with the procedures described herein, in the Letter of Transmittal and in the accompanying instructions, and Parent shall cause the Paying Agent to comply with the foregoing. Upon surrender of a Company Stock Certificate to the Paying Agent for cancellation, together with a Letter of Transmittal duly executed and completed in accordance with its instructions and such other documents as the Paying Agent reasonably may require, the Paying Agent shall pay to the holder of the surrendered certificate, as promptly as practicable after the Effective Time, the Merger Consideration payable in respect of the Company Shares represented by the certificate, and the Company Stock Certificate so surrendered shall be canceled. The Letter of Transmittal shall provide that such payment shall, at the holder's election and upon delivery of

wire transfer instructions, be by wire transfer at the Company's expense for payments exceeding \$1,000,000. If any portion of the Merger Consideration payable in respect of any Company Shares is to be paid to a Person other than the registered holder of those shares, it shall be a condition to making such payment that the Company Stock Certificate representing those shares is surrendered properly endorsed or otherwise in proper form for transfer and that the Person requesting such payment shall (i) pay any transfer or other Taxes required as a result of payment to a Person other than the registered holder or (ii) establish to the satisfaction of the Paying Agent that such Tax has been paid or is not payable. At and after the Effective Time and until surrendered as contemplated by this Section 2.5(b), each Company Stock Certificate (other than Company Stock Certificates representing Dissenting Shares or shares of Company Common Stock or Company Preferred Stock held in treasury to be canceled pursuant to Section 2.4(d) shall be deemed to represent for all purposes only the right to receive the Merger Consideration payable upon such surrender.

(c) No Further Ownership Rights

From and after the Effective Time, holders of Company Shares outstanding immediately prior to the Effective Time shall cease to have any rights in respect of those shares, except as otherwise provided for in this Agreement or by applicable Law. The Merger Consideration issued and paid upon conversion of Company Shares in accordance with the terms of this Article 2 shall be deemed to have been issued and paid in full satisfaction of all rights in respect of those shares.

(d) Termination of Exchange Fund

Any portion of the Exchange Fund remaining undistributed nine (9) months after the Effective Time shall be delivered to the Surviving Corporation or as the Surviving Corporation directs, and thereafter any holder of Company Shares who did not comply with this Article 2 prior to such delivery shall look, solely to the Surviving Corporation for the Merger Consideration payable in respect of those shares (subject to abandoned property, escheat and similar Laws).

(e) No Liability

None of Parent, MergerSub, the Company or the Paying Agent shall be liable to any Person in respect of any shares of Company Common Stock (or dividends or other distributions respect thereto), or cash from the Exchange Fund, delivered to a public official pursuant to any applicable abandoned property, escheat or similar law.

(f) Lost Certificates

Upon delivery to the Paying Agent of a "lost certificate" affidavit in customary form to the effect that a Company Stock Certificate has been lost, stolen or destroyed, and, if reasonably required by the Surviving Corporation, delivery of a bond in such reasonable amount as the Surviving Corporation may direct as indemnity against any claim that may be made against the Surviving Corporation in respect of the certificate, the Paying Agent shall deliver to the Person claiming ownership of the lost, stolen or destroyed Company Stock Certificate the Merger Consideration payable in respect of the Company Shares previously represented by the certificate.

(g) Stock Transfer Books

Company's stock transfer books shall be closed immediately upon the Effective Time, and there shall be no further registration of transfers of Company Shares on Company's stock transfer records.

(h) Appraisal Rights

Notwithstanding anything in this Agreement to the contrary, a Dissenting Share shall not be converted into the right to receive Merger Consideration, but instead such holder shall be entitled

to payment of the fair value of such shares in accordance with Section 262 of the DGCL, unless and until the Dissenting Stockholder fails to perfect or effectively withdraws or loses those rights. At the Effective Time, each Dissenting Share shall be canceled and cease to exist or be outstanding, and each holder of Dissenting Shares shall cease to have any rights with respect thereto, except the right to receive the fair value of the shares is accordance with the provisions of Section 262 of the DGCL. Notwithstanding the foregoing, if a Dissenting Stockholder fails to perfect or effectively withdraws or otherwise forfeits the right to appraisal under Section 262, the right of such Dissenting Stockholder to be paid the fair value of such holder's Dissenting Shares shall cease to exist and such Dissenting Stockholder's Dissenting Shares shall be deemed to have converted into and represent for all purposes only the right to receive the Merger Consideration payable upon surrender of the Company Stock Certificate representing those shares pursuant to Section 2.5(b). Company shall give Parent (i) prompt notice of any written demand for appraisal of any Company Shares, any attempted withdrawal of any such demand, and any other instrument served on the Company pursuant to the DGCL relating to rights of appraisal and (ii) the opportunity to consult with respect to all negotiations and proceedings with respect to demands for appraisal under the DGCL. Company shall not voluntarily make any payment in respect of, or settle or offer to settle, any demand for appraisal without Parent's prior written consent, which shall not be unreasonably withheld.

(i) Stock Options

Company shall take all action necessary so that each outstanding Company Stock Option, whether or not it is then vested or exercisable, shall be canceled immediately prior to the Effective Time, and shall thereafter represent (whether or not previously vested) only the right to receive from the Surviving Corporation, at the Effective Time or as soon as practicable thereafter, in consideration for the option's cancellation, an amount in cash equal to the product of (i) the number of shares of Company Common Stock issuable upon exercise of the option multiplied by (ii) the excess, if any, of the Common Stock Merger Consideration over the exercise price per share payable under the option, (with the amount payable subject to reduction for required withholding of taxes). Promptly following the execution of this Agreement, Company shall mail to each person who is a holder of an outstanding Company Stock Option (whether or not then vested or exercisable) a letter in a form acceptable to Parent describing the treatment of and payment for Company Stock Options pursuant to this Section 2.5(i) and providing instructions to use to obtain payment for the holder's Company Stock Options under this Agreement. These instructions shall require, inter alia, that as a condition of payment, the holder shall be required to deliver a release, in a form acceptable to Parent, by which the holder effectively relinquishes all rights in respect of the holder's Company Stock Options upon payment in accordance with this Section 2.5(i). The Surviving Corporation shall cause the Paying Agent, at the Effective Time or as soon as reasonably practicable thereafter, to deliver to such holder the amount of cash provided for in the first sentence of this Section 2.5(i). Company shall take all actions necessary to cause all stock option, stock grant and stock purchase plans, and any other plan, program or arrangement with respect to equity securities of Company or any Subsidiary, to be terminated effective as of the Effective Time and to ensure that no Person shall have any rights thereunder to acquire equity securities of Company, any Subsidiary, Parent or the Surviving Corporation after such time.

Article 3 Representations and Warranties of Company

Except as set forth in (i) the Company disclosure schedule delivered by Company to Parent at or prior to the execution of this Agreement (the "Company Disclosure Schedule") (provided that the listing of an item in one schedule of the Company Disclosure Schedule shall be deemed to be a listing in each schedule of the Company Disclosure Schedule and to apply to any other representation and warranty

of the Company in this Agreement to the extent that it is reasonably apparent from a reading of such disclosure item that it would also qualify or apply to such other schedule or representation and warranty) or (ii) the Company SEC Reports, Company represents and warrants to Parent and MergerSub as follows:

3.1 Organization

Each Target Company is a corporation duly organized, validly existing and in good standing under the Laws of its state of incorporation, with full corporate power and authority to conduct its business as it is now being conducted, to own or use the properties and assets that it purports to own or use, and to perform its obligations under all Contracts. Each Target Company is duly qualified to do business as a foreign corporation and is in good standing under the Laws of each state or other jurisdiction in which qualification is required by Law (except where the failure to be qualified and in good standing would not reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect).

3.2 Authority

Company has the power and authority to execute and deliver this Agreement and to perform its obligations under this Agreement. By necessary corporate action, based upon the unanimous recommendation of the Special Committee, the board of directors of Company has duly and validly authorized the execution and delivery of this Agreement and approved this Agreement and the consummation of the Merger and declared it advisable, and has resolved to recommend that the stockholders of Company approve this Agreement and the consummation of the merger of Company with MergerSub pursuant to this Agreement. Company's execution and delivery of this Agreement and, subject to receipt of Stockholder Approval, consummation of the Merger, have been duly authorized by all necessary action required by Company's Organizational Documents and the DGCL.

3.3 Enforceability

This Agreement constitutes a legally valid and binding obligation of Company, enforceable against Company in accordance with its terms except as enforceability may be limited by (i) applicable bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization, moratorium or other similar Laws affecting the enforcement of creditors' rights generally and (ii) general principles of equity (regardless of whether enforceability is considered in a proceeding in equity or at law).

3.4 Capital Stock

- (a) Company's authorized capital stock consists of 12,000,000 shares of Company Common Stock and 2,000,000 shares of Company Preferred Stock.
- (b) Company had 4,390,264 shares of Company Common Stock issued and outstanding as of September 30, 2002. All of these shares are duly authorized, validly issued, fully paid and nonassessable, and none of them was issued in violation of or subject to any preemptive rights. As of the date of this Agreement, Company holds 391,029 shares of Company Common Stock in treasury, and no shares of Company Common Stock are held by any Subsidiary.
- (c) Company had 17,666 shares of Company Preferred Stock issued and outstanding as of October 11, 2002. All of these shares are duly authorized, validly issued, fully paid and nonassessable, and none of them was issued in violation of or subject to any preemptive rights. As of the date of this Agreement, Company holds no shares of Company Preferred Stock in treasury, and no shares of Company Preferred Stock are held by any Subsidiary.
- (d) As of October 11, 2002, there were outstanding Company Stock Options to purchase a total of 385,000 shares of Company Common Stock, as listed in Section 3.4(d) of the Company Disclosure Schedule. Section 3.4(d) of the Company Disclosure Schedule also provides, for each

stock option listed, the name of the holder, the number of underlying shares, the date of grant, the applicable vesting schedule and the exercise price.

A-10

- (e) As of the date of this Agreement: (i) except as described in Sections 3.4(b) and 3.4(c), there are no other classes of outstanding shares of capital stock or other classes of equity securities of Company or any other class of equity equivalents; and (ii) except as described in Sections 3.4(c) and 3.4(d), there are no other classes of securities of Company convertible into or exchangeable for shares of capital stock or other classes of equity securities of Company or options, warrants, calls, puts, subscription rights, conversion rights or other Contracts to which Company is party or by which it is bound providing for Company's issuance of any Company Shares or other equity securities.
- (f) Except for the Voting Agreement or as provided in Company's certificate of incorporation, as amended to the date of this Agreement, there are no stockholders agreements, buy-sell agreements, voting trusts or other Contracts to which Company or any Subsidiary is a party or by which it is bound relating to the voting or disposition of any Company Shares or creating any obligation of Company or any Subsidiary to repurchase, redeem or otherwise acquire or retire any Company Shares or any Company Stock Options or warrants.
- (g) Section 3.4(g) of the Company Disclosure Schedule lists for each Subsidiary, its name and jurisdiction of incorporation and the number of authorized shares of each class of its capital stock. All of the issued and outstanding shares of capital stock of each Subsidiary are duly authorized, validly issued, fully paid and nonassessable, and none of them was issued in violation of any preemptive rights.
- (h) Company holds of record and owns beneficially all of the issued and outstanding shares of capital stock of each Subsidiary, free and clear of any Liens (other than restrictions on transfer under the Securities Act and state securities Laws) and there are no other outstanding equity securities or equity equivalents of any Subsidiary.
- (i) There are no securities of any Subsidiary convertible into or exchangeable for shares of capital stock or other equity securities of the Subsidiary or options, warrants, calls, puts, subscription rights, conversion rights or other Contracts to which any Subsidiary is party or by which it is bound providing for its issuance of any shares of its capital stock or any other equity securities.
- (j) There are no stockholders agreements, buy-sell agreements, voting trusts or other Contracts to which any Subsidiary is a party or by which it is bound relating to the voting or disposition of any shares of the Subsidiary's capital stock or creating any obligation of the Subsidiary to repurchase, redeem or otherwise acquire or retire any shares of its capital stock or any stock options or warrants.
- (k) Except for the Subsidiaries or as described in the Company SEC Reports, Company does not own any shares of capital stock of or other equity interest in any corporation or other Person.

3.5 No Violation

Subject only to obtaining Stockholder Approval, Company's execution, delivery and performance of this Agreement will not, either directly or indirectly (and with or without Notice or the passage of time or both):

(a) violate or conflict with its Organizational Documents or those of any Subsidiary;

(b) except as would not reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect, result in a breach of or default under any Contract to which it or any Subsidiary is a party or by which it is bound;

A-11

- (c) except as would not reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect, result in the imposition or creation of any Lien (other than a Permitted Lien) upon any of its assets or any of the assets of any Subsidiary; or
- (d) except as would not reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect, violate or conflict with, or give any Governmental Authority the right to challenge the Merger or to obtain any other relief under, any Law or Order to which it or any Subsidiary is subject.

3.6 No Consent Required

Except (i) as required by the Securities Act, the Exchange Act, The Nasdaq National Market, Inc. or applicable Takeover Statutes or (ii) where Company's failure to give, file or obtain any Notice, Permit or Consent would not reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect, and except for (iii) filing and recordation of appropriate documents for the Merger as required by the DGCL, Company's execution, delivery and performance of this Agreement do not require any Notice to, filing with, Permit from or other Consent of any Governmental Authority or other Person.

3.7 SEC Reports and Financial Statements

Company has filed with the SEC all forms, reports, schedules, exhibits and other documents that it has been required to file (collectively, including all exhibits thereto, the "Company SEC Reports"), each of which complied in all material respects with all applicable requirements of the Securities Act and the Exchange Act and the related SEC rules and regulations in effect on the date that it was filed with the SEC. None of the Company SEC Reports, including any financial statements or schedules included or incorporated by reference in the Company SEC Reports, contained, as of their respective dates of filing (and, if amended or superseded by a filing prior to the date of this Agreement or of the Closing Date, then on the date of such filing), any untrue statement of a material fact or omitted to state a material fact required to be stated therein or incorporated by reference or necessary in order to make the statements contained therein, in light of the circumstances under which they were made, not misleading. No Subsidiary is required to file any forms, reports or other documents with the SEC.

The consolidated financial statements of Company included in the Company SEC Reports complied as to form in all material respects with applicable accounting requirements and the relevant published rules and regulations of the SEC and present fairly, in conformity with GAAP applied on a consistent basis during the periods involved (except as otherwise noted therein), the consolidated financial position of Company and its consolidated Subsidiaries as of the dates indicated and their consolidated results of operations and cash flows for the periods then ended (subject, in the case of the unaudited interim financial statements, to normal year-end adjustments and to the lack of footnotes and other presentation items).

3.8 **Equipment**

Schedule 3.8 of the Company Disclosure Schedule contains a complete and accurate list of all of the Equipment of the Target Companies as of the date of this Agreement having a purchase price of more than \$10,000 per piece of Equipment (grouping the Equipment listed by Target Company, and identifying each piece of Equipment by Equipment description).

3.9 Contracts

(a) Section 3.9(a) of the Company Disclosure Schedule consists of 12 subschedules which contain complete and accurate lists of the following Contracts of the Target Companies as of the

date of this Agreement (grouping the Contracts listed on each subschedule by Target Company, and listing each Contract only once if more than one listing otherwise would be required):

(1) a list of the top 20 Customer Contracts (by revenues for the twelve (12) month period ended August 31, 2002) identifying each Customer Contract by name of customer, billing address and contract term ($Section \ 3.9(a)(1)$) of the Company Disclosure Schedule);

A-12

- (2) all Equipment Leases involving monthly payments of more than \$1,000, identifying each Equipment Lease by (i) vendor and Equipment description, and (ii) lessor, lessee and term of lease (*Section 3.9(a)(2)* of the Company Disclosure Schedule);
- (3) all Facility Leases and Former Facility Leases, identifying each Facility Lease and Former Facility Lease by (i) name, location and use of the Facility in question, and (ii) for each Facility Lease, lessor, lessee and term of lease (*Section 3.9(a)(3)* of the Company Disclosure Schedule);
- (4) all Contracts (or series of related Contracts) for the purchase or sale of raw materials, parts, supplies, products or other personal property, or for the receipt of services, the performance of which will extend over a period of more than six months or involve payments in an amount exceeding \$25,000 (Section 3.9(a)(4)) of the Company Disclosure Schedule);
- (5) all Contracts with lenders evidencing or securing any indebtedness for borrowed money (Section 3.9(a)(5) of the Company Disclosure Schedule);
- (6) all Contracts with distributors and sales representatives (Section 3.9(a)(6) of the Company Disclosure Schedule);
- (7) all Contracts guaranteeing the contractual performance of or any payment by another Person (other than a Target Company) (*Section 3.9(a)(7)* of the Company Disclosure Schedule) where the Target Companies' liability exceeds \$25,000;
- (8) all Contracts creating a partnership or joint venture with another Person (Section 3.9(a)(8) of the Company Disclosure Schedule);
- (9) all Contracts restricting or purporting to restrict a Target Company's geographical area or scope of business activities or limiting or purporting to limit the freedom to engage in any line of business or to compete with any Person (Section 3.9(a)(9) of the Company Disclosure Schedule), except for arrangements entered into in the Ordinary Course of Business;
- (10) all Contracts granting a right of first refusal or first negotiation with respect to any material asset of a Target Company (Section 3.9(a)(10) of the Company Disclosure Schedule);
- (11) all Contracts (other than Employee Benefit Plan) relating to employee compensation, employment, termination of employment or consulting services, involving annual payments of in excess of \$25,000 including any such Contract that would result in any benefit payable to any Person following consummation of the Merger of at least \$25,000 (Section 3.9(a)(11)) of the Company Disclosure Schedule); and
- (12) all Contracts (or series of related Contracts) entered into outside of the Ordinary Course of Business and involving the expenditure or receipt by any party of an

amount exceeding \$25,000 (Section 3.9(a)(12)) of the Company Disclosure Schedule).

- (b) Each Material Contract of the Target Companies is a legally valid and binding obligation of the subject Target Company and, to the Knowledge of the Company, the other parties thereto (except where the failure to be legally valid, binding and enforceable and in full force and effect would not reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect, either individually or in the aggregate with all such other Contracts).
- (c) Except as would not reasonably be expected to result in a Material Adverse Effect: (i) no Target Company is in Default under any Material Contract, and to Company's Knowledge, no other party to a Material Contract is in Default in any material respect under the Contract; and (ii) no event has occurred or circumstance exists that (with or without Notice or the passage of

A-13

time, or both) would result in a Default by a Target Company under a Material Contract or would give any party to a Material Contract the right to exercise any remedy under the Contract or to cancel, terminate or modify the Material Contract.

- (d) Except as would not reasonably be expected to result in a Material Adverse Effect, no Target Company has given Notice to or received Notice from any other Person relating to an alleged, possible or potential Default under any Material Contract.
- (e) For each Facility Lease listed in *Section 3.9(a)(3)* of the Company Disclosure Schedule, the Target Company party to the Facility Lease has a good and valid leasehold interest in the Facility Lease free and clear of all Liens, except for (i) Taxes and general and special assessments not in default and payable without penalty and interest, (ii) easements, covenants and other encumbrances or restrictions that do not materially impair the current use, occupancy, value or marketability of the Target Company's interest, (iii) any landlord's or other statutory lien incidental to the Ordinary Course of Business and (iv) Permitted Liens.

3.10 Real Property

Section 3.10 of the Company Disclosure Schedule contains a complete and accurate list of all material Real Property owned by the Target Companies as of the date of this Agreement (identified by Target Company and common name). For each item of Real Property listed in Section 3.10 of the Company Disclosure Schedule, title to the parcel is free and clear of all Liens, except for (i) Taxes and general and special assessments not in default and payable without penalty and interest, (ii) easements, covenants and other encumbrances or restrictions that do not materially impair the current use, occupancy, value or marketability of the property, (iii) statutory liens incidental to the Ordinary Course of Business and (iv) Permitted Liens.

3.11 Permits

- (a) Except as would not reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect, in the case of each Permit held by the Target Companies:
 - (1) the Permit is valid and in full force and effect;
 - (2) the holder of the Permit has complied with the terms of the Permit in all material respects;
 - (3) to Company's Knowledge, no event has occurred or circumstance exists that (with or without Notice or the passage of time or both) would constitute or result in the holder's violation of or failure to comply with the Permit or result in the revocation,

withdrawal, suspension, cancellation, termination or material modification of the Permit;

- (4) the holder of the Permit has not received any written Notice from any Governmental Authority or other Person regarding (i) any actual, alleged or potential violation of or failure to comply with the Permit or (ii) any actual, proposed or potential revocation, withdrawal, suspension, cancellation, termination or modification of the Permit; and
- (5) the holder of the Permit has duly filed on a timely basis all applications that were required to be filed for the renewal of the Permit and has duly made on a timely basis all other filings, if any, required to have been made in respect of the Permit.
- (b) The Target Companies hold all Permits required for the lawful conduct of the Business as it is currently conducted (except for any Permits the failure to obtain which would not reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect);

A-14

3.12 Intellectual Property

The Target Companies have rights to all Intellectual Property of any kind or character necessary for the conduct and operation of the Business as it is currently conducted, except where the failure to have such rights would not reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect.

3.13 Undisclosed Liabilities

The Target Companies do not have any Liabilities except for (i) Liabilities disclosed in the financial statements included in the Company's SEC Reports, (ii) Liabilities incurred in the Ordinary Course of Business since June 30, 2002 and (iii) Liabilities which would not reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect.

3.14 **Taxes**

- (a) Except as would not reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect, each Target Company has filed all Tax Returns that it was required to file prior to the date of this Agreement. All of the Tax Returns filed were correct and complete in all respects except as would not reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect, and all material amounts of Taxes due in connection with these Tax Returns have been paid (other than (i) Taxes for which adequate reserves have been established as reflected on the June 30 Balance Sheet, as such amounts have changed and may change since June 30, 2002), and (ii) Taxes which are being contested in good faith the nonpayment of which would not reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect).
- (b) No federal or state income Tax Return that any Target Company filed prior to the date of this Agreement is currently under audit or examination by a Governmental Authority, and no Target Company has received Notice from any Governmental Authority that (i) any federal or state income Tax Return that it filed will be audited or examined or that (ii) it is or may be liable for a material amount of additional Taxes in respect of any Tax Return or for the payment of a material amount of Taxes in respect of a Tax Return that it did not file (because, for example, it believed that it was not subject to taxation by the jurisdiction in question).
- (c) Except as would not reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect, no Target Company had any amount of delinquent Taxes as of June 30, 2002.
- (d) No Target Company has extended the time in which to file any Tax Return or extended or waived the statute of limitations for the assessment of any Tax.

- (e) No Target Company has filed a consent under § 341(f) of the Internal Revenue Code (relating to collapsible corporations) or made any payments, or is or could become obligated under an existing Contract (including a stock option) to make any payments, that are not deductible under § 280G of the Internal Revenue Code (relating to "golden parachute" payments).
- (f) Section 3.14(f) of the Company Disclosure Schedule lists all federal and all material other income Tax Returns that the Target Companies have filed since January 1, 1998. No Target Company is a party to any agreement providing for the allocation or sharing of Taxes.
- (g) Company has not been at any time during the applicable period specified in § 897(c)(1)(A)(ii) of the Internal Revenue Code, a "United States real property holding corporation" within the meaning of § 897(c) of the Internal Revenue Code.
- (h) No Target Company has constituted either a "distributing corporation" or a "controlled corporation" (within the meaning of § 355(a)(1)(A) of the Internal Revenue Code) in a distribution of stock qualifying for tax-free treatment under § 355 of the Internal Revenue Code in the two years prior to the date of this Agreement.

A-15

3.15 No Material Adverse Change

Since June 30, 2002, (i) there has not been any change in Company's consolidated financial position, results of operations or assets, and (ii) no event has occurred or circumstance exists relating to Company or any Subsidiary that, individually or in the aggregate, has had a Material Adverse Effect.

3.16 Employee Benefits

- (a) *Section 3.16(a)* of the Company Disclosure Schedule contains a complete and accurate list of all Employee Benefit Plans under which any Target Company has any obligation or Liability whether contingent or otherwise (grouping the Employee Benefit Plans by Target Company).
- (b) Except as would not reasonably be expected to result in a Material Adverse Effect, in the case of each Employee Benefit Plan listed in *Section 3.16(a)* of the Company Disclosure Schedule:
 - (1) the plan has been maintained and operated in material compliance with the applicable requirements of ERISA, the Internal Revenue Code and any other Law;
 - (2) all required contributions to or premiums or other payments in respect of the plan have been timely paid;
 - (3) there have been no "prohibited transactions" (as defined in § 406 of ERISA and § 4975 of the Internal Revenue Code) in respect of the plan which could reasonably result in Liability to a Target Company; and
 - (4) no Suit in respect of the administration or operation of the plan or the investment of plan assets is pending or, to Company's Knowledge, Threatened, and to Company's Knowledge, there is no basis for any such Suit.
- (c) Except to the extent required by § 4980B of the Internal Revenue Code or any similar state law, no Target Company provides health or other welfare benefits to any retired or former employee or is obligated to provide health or other welfare benefits to any active employee following his or her retirement or other termination of service.
- (d) No Target Company maintains or in the past six (6) years has maintained an Employee Benefit Plan that is or was subject to the "minimum funding standards" of § 302 of ERISA or Title

IV of ERISA.

- (e) No Target Company contributes to or in the past six (6) years has been required to contribute to any "multiemployer plan" (as defined in § 3(37) of ERISA).
- (f) Each Employee Benefit Plan listed in *Section 3.16(a)* of the Company Disclosure Schedule and any related trust intended to qualify under § 401(a) of the Internal Revenue Code has received a determination from the Internal Revenue Service that it so qualifies.
- (g) Except as contemplated by this Agreement, neither the execution of this Agreement nor the consummation of the Merger will result in an increase in benefits under any Employee Benefit Plan listed in *Section 3.16(a)* of the Company Disclosure Schedule or any Contract with any current, former or retired employee of the Company or an acceleration of the time of payment or vesting of any benefits.

3.17 Insurance

- (a) Section 3.17(a) of the Company Disclosure Schedule consists of three subschedules and lists:
 - (1) all insurance policies in effect on the date of this Agreement under which any Target Company or any director or officer of a Target Company (in his or her capacity as a director or officer) is insured at any time since January 1, 1998 (Section 3.17(a)(1) of the Company Disclosure Schedule);

A-16

- (2) all self-insurance arrangements by any Target Company since January 1, 1998 (Section 3.17(a)(2) of the Company Disclosure Schedule); and
- (3) all obligations of any Target Company to provide insurance coverage to any Person other than an employee ($Section\ 3.17(a)(3)$) of the Company Disclosure Schedule).
- (b) Except as would not reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect, with respect to each insurance policy listed in $Section \ 3.17(a)(1)$ of the Company Disclosure Schedule under which a Target Company is currently insured:
 - (1) the policy is valid and in full force and effect, and will continue in full force and effect following consummation of the Merger; and
 - (2) with respect to all pending claims, the Target Company has not received (i) any refusal of coverage, (ii) any Notice that a defense will be afforded with a reservation of rights, or (iii) any Notice of cancellation or any other indication that the policy is no longer in full force or effect or will not be renewed or that the insurance company is unwilling or unable to perform its obligations.

3.18 Compliance

- (a) Since January 1, 1998, each Target Company has complied with, and is currently in compliance with, each Law and Order that is or was applicable to it or to the conduct of the Business (except for non-compliance that would not reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect, either individually or in the aggregate with all such other non-compliance).
- (b) Except as would not reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect, no Target Company has received any written Notice which has not been resolved from any Governmental Authority or other Person regarding (i) any actual, alleged or potential violation of or failure to

comply with any applicable Law or Order or (ii) any actual, alleged or potential obligation to undertake or bear all or any portion of the cost of any remedial action of any kind.

3.19 Legal Proceedings

- (a) Section 3.19(a) of the Company Disclosure Schedule consists of two subschedules and lists:
 - (1) all Suits pending as of the date of this Agreement in which any Target Company is a party (Section 3.19(a)(1) of the Company Disclosure Schedule); and
 - (2) all other Suits since January 1, 1998 through the date of this Agreement involving monetary claims of more than \$50,000 or requests for injunctive relief in which any Target Company was a party ($Section \ 3.19(a)(2)$) of the Company Disclosure Schedule).
- (b) None of the pending Suits listed in Section 3.19(a)(1) of the Company Disclosure Schedule would reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect.
- (c) to Company's Knowledge, as of the date of this Agreement, there is no Suit Threatened or investigation pending against any Target Company which would reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect.

3.20 Absence of Certain Events

Since June 30, 2002 through the date of this Agreement, no Target Company has:

(a) sold, leased, transferred or disposed of any of its assets used, held for use or useful in conduct of the Business with a book value in excess of \$1,000 except in the Ordinary Course of Business;

A-17

- (b) entered into any Material Contract relating to the Business except in the Ordinary Course of Business;
- (c) terminated, accelerated or modified any Material Contract relating to the Business to which it is or was a party or by which it is or was bound, or has agreed to do so, or has received Notice that another party had done so or intends to do so, except in the case of Material Contracts which expired in accordance with their terms or which were terminated, accelerated or modified in any material respect in the Ordinary Course of Business;
- (d) imposed or permitted any Lien (other than a Permitted Lien) on any of its assets except in the Ordinary Course of Business;
- (e) other than in the Ordinary Course of Business, delayed or postponed payment of its vendor accounts payable and other Liabilities;
- (f) cancelled, compromised, waived or released any claim or right involving in excess of \$1,000 outside of the Ordinary Course of Business;
- (g) experienced any damage, destruction or loss to any of its assets used, held for use or useful in conduct of the Business (whether or not covered by insurance) which has resulted in a Material Adverse Effect:
- (h) changed the base compensation or other terms of employment of any of its employees involving consideration in excess of \$50,000 except in the Ordinary Course of Business;

- (i) paid a bonus to any employee other than in the Ordinary Course of Business;
- (j) adopted a new material Employee Benefit Plan, terminated any material existing plan or increased materially the benefits under or otherwise materially modified any existing plan except as contemplated in this Agreement;
 - (k) amended its Organizational Documents;
- (l) issued, sold, redeemed or repurchased, or effected any split, combination or reclassification of, any shares of its capital stock or other securities or retired any indebtedness;
 - (m) granted any stock options other than in the Ordinary Course of Business;
- (n) declared or paid any dividends or made any other distributions in respect of its capital stock;
- (o) made, or guaranteed, any loans or advances to another Person, other than a Target Company, or made any investment or commitment therefor in any Person, other than a Target Company, in each case other than in the Ordinary Course of Business;
 - (p) made any capital expenditures in excess of \$25,000 in the aggregate;
 - (q) made any material change in its accounting principles or methods; or
- (r) entered into any Contract to do any of the matters described in the preceding clauses(a) (q).

3.21 Environmental Matters

(a) Each Target Company is, and has been at all times since January 1, 1995, in compliance with all applicable Environmental Laws and Occupational Safety and Health Laws (except where non-compliance would not reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect, either individually or in the aggregate with all such other non-compliance), and to Company's Knowledge, there are no facts, circumstances or conditions which would reasonably be expected to prevent compliance in the future (except where non-compliance would not reasonably be expected to have

A-18

a Material Adverse Effect, either individually or in the aggregate with all such other non-compliance).

(b) No Target Company has received any Notice from any Governmental Authority, any private citizen acting in the public interest, the current or prior owner or operator of any current or former Facility, or any other Person, of (i) any actual or potential violation or failure to comply with any Environmental Laws or (ii) any actual or potential Cleanup Liability or other Environmental Liability, which would reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect, either individually or in the aggregate with all other such matters.

3.22 Employees

Section 3.22 of the Company Disclosure Schedule contains a complete and accurate list of the following information for the employees of each Target Company as of the date of this Agreement (grouping the employees by Target Company), including employees on leave of absence: name; job title; date of hire; current base compensation; and changes in base compensation since January 1, 2001 (or date of hire, if later). To Company's Knowledge, except where non-compliance therewith would not reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect, no employee of any Target Company is a party to or is otherwise bound

by any Contract or arrangement, including any confidentiality, noncompetition or proprietary rights agreement, that presently limits or restricts the scope of his or her duties as an employee of the Surviving Corporation (or of a Subsidiary of the Surviving Corporation).

3.23 Labor Relations

No Target Company is or has ever been a party to any collective bargaining agreement or other labor Contract. Except as would not reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect, no Target Company is experiencing, or has experienced at any time, and, to Company's Knowledge, there is no reasonable basis to expect any Target Company to experience: (i) any strike, slowdown, picketing or work stoppage by or lockout of its employees; (ii) any Suit relating to the alleged violation of any Law or Order relating to labor relations or employment matters (including any charge or complaint filed by an employee or union with the U.S. National Labor Relations Board or Equal Employment Opportunity Commission or any other comparable Governmental Authority); (iii) any other labor or employment dispute; or (iv) any activity to organize or establish a collective bargaining unit, trade union or employee association.

3.24 Broker's Fee

Company has no Liability or obligation to pay any fees or commissions to any broker, finder or agent with respect to the transactions contemplated by this Agreement.

3.25 Takeover Statutes

No "fair price", "moratorium", "control share acquisition" or other similar antitakeover statute or regulation enacted under state or federal laws in the United States (with the exception of Section 203 of the DGCL) applicable to the Company ("*Takeover Statutes*") is applicable to the Merger or the other transactions contemplated hereby. Assuming the accuracy of the representation and warranty set forth in Section 4.13, the action of the Board of Directors of the Company in approving this Agreement (and the transactions provided for herein) is sufficient to render inapplicable to this Agreement (and the transactions provided for herein) the restrictions on "business combinations" (as defined in Section 203 of the DGCL) as set forth in Section 203 of the DGCL.

3.26 Proxy Statement

None of the information supplied or to be supplied by the Company for inclusion or incorporation by reference in the Proxy Statement (and each amendment of or supplement to the Proxy Statement, if any) will, on the date it is mailed to the Stockholders and at the time of the Stockholders Meeting,

A-19

contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state any material fact required to be stated therein or incorporated by reference or necessary in order to make the statements contained therein, in light of the circumstances under which they were made, not misleading or necessary to correct any statement in any earlier communication with respect to the solicitation of proxies for the Stockholders Meeting which shall have become false or misleading. Notwithstanding the foregoing, Company makes no representation or warranty in respect of statements made in any of the foregoing documents based on information supplied by Parent or MergerSub in writing for inclusion in such documents. The Proxy Statement will comply as to form in all material respects with the provisions of the Exchange Act and the rules and regulations of the SEC.

3.27 Vote Required

The affirmative vote of the holders of a majority of the outstanding shares of Company Common Stock is the only vote of holders of any class or series of Company's capital stock necessary to adopt this Agreement and to consummate the Merger.

3.28 Opinion of Financial Advisor

The Special Committee has received the opinion of Houlihan Lokey Howard & Zukin, dated October 19, 2002, to the effect that, as of such date, the Common Stock Merger Consideration to be received by the holders of Company Common Stock is fair to such holders from a financial point of view.

Article 4 Representations and Warranties of Parent and MergerSub

Except as set forth in the Parent SEC Reports, Parent and MergerSub represent and warrant to Company as follows:

4.1 Organization

Each of Parent and MergerSub is are a corporation duly organized, validly existing and in good standing under the Laws of the State of Delaware, with full corporate power and authority to conduct its business as it is now being conducted, to own or use the properties and assets that it purports to own or use, and to perform its obligations under all Contracts. Parent directly owns all of the issued and outstanding shares of MergerSub's capital stock.

4.2 Authority

Each of Parent and MergerSub has the power and authority to execute and deliver this Agreement and to perform its obligations under this Agreement. The execution, delivery and performance of this Agreement by Parent and MergerSub have been duly authorized by all necessary action required by their respective Organizational Documents and applicable Law.

4.3 Enforceability

This Agreement constitutes a legally valid and binding obligation of Parent and MergerSub, enforceable against them in accordance with its terms except as enforceability may be limited by (i) applicable bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization, moratorium or other similar Laws affecting the enforcement of creditors' rights generally and (ii) general principles of equity (regardless of whether enforceability is considered in a proceeding in equity or at law).

A-20

4.4 No Violation

The execution, delivery and performance of this Agreement by Parent and MergerSub will not, in the case of each of them, either directly or indirectly (and with or without Notice or the passage of time or both):

- (a) violate or conflict with its Organizational Documents;
- (b) except as would not reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect, result in a breach of or default under any Contract to which it is a party or by which it is bound;
- (c) except as would not reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect, result in the imposition or creation of any Lien (other than a Permitted Lien) upon any of its assets; or
- (d) violate or conflict with, or give any Governmental Authority or other Person the right to challenge the Merger or to obtain any other relief under, any Law or Order to which it is subject.

4.5 No Consent Required

Except (i) as required by the Securities Act, the Exchange Act, The Nasdaq National Market, Inc. or applicable Takeover Statutes or (ii) where its failure to give, file or obtain any Notice, Permit or Consent would not reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect, and except for (iii) filing and recordation of appropriate documents for the Merger as required by the DGCL, the execution, delivery and performance of this Agreement by Parent and MergerSub do not require any Notice to, filing with, Permit from or other Consent of any Governmental Authority or other Person.

4.6 SEC Reports and Financial Statements

Parent has filed with the SEC all forms, reports, schedules, exhibits and other documents that it has been required to file (collectively, including all exhibits thereto, the "Parent SEC Reports"), each of which complied in all material respects with all applicable requirements of the Securities Act and the Exchange Act and the related SEC rules and regulations in effect on the date that it was filed with the SEC. None of the Parent SEC Reports, including any financial statements or schedules included or incorporated by reference in the Parent SEC Reports, contained, as of their respective dates (and, if amended or superseded by a filing prior to the date of this Agreement or of the Closing Date, then on the date of such filing) filed, any untrue statement of a material fact or omitted to state a material fact required to be stated therein or incorporated by reference or necessary in order to make the statements contained therein, in light of the circumstances under which they were made, not misleading.

The consolidated financial statements of Parent included in the Parent SEC Reports complied as to form in all material respects with applicable accounting requirements and the relevant published rules and regulations of the SEC and present fairly, in conformity with GAAP applied on a consistent basis during the periods involved (except as otherwise noted therein), the consolidated financial position of Parent and its consolidated subsidiaries as of the dates indicated and their consolidated results of operations and cash flows for the periods then ended (subject, in the case of the unaudited interim financial statements, to normal year-end adjustments and to the lack of footnotes and other presentation items).

4.7 Broker's Fee

Neither Parent nor MergerSub has any Liability or obligation to pay any fees or commissions to any broker, finder or agent with respect to the transactions contemplated by this Agreement.

4.8 MergerSub Formation

MergerSub was formed solely for the purpose of engaging in the transactions contemplated by this Agreement. Since the date of its incorporation, MergerSub has not carried on any business or

A-21

conducted any operations other than the execution of this Agreement, the performance of its obligations under this Agreement and related ancillary matters.

4.9 Proxy Statement

None of the information supplied or to be supplied by Parent or MergerSub for inclusion or incorporation by reference in the Proxy Statement (and each amendment of or supplement to the Proxy Statement, if any) will, on the date it is mailed to the Stockholders and at the time of the Stockholders Meeting, contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state any material fact required to be stated therein or incorporated by reference or necessary in order to make the statements contained therein, in light of the circumstances under which they were made, not misleading or necessary to correct any statement in any earlier communication with respect to the solicitation of proxies for the Stockholders Meeting which shall have become false or misleading.

4.10 Board Approval

The Board of Directors of MergerSub, by unanimous written consent, has unanimously approved this Agreement and declared it advisable and in the best interests of MergerSub's sole stockholder.

4.11 Vote Required

The affirmative vote of Parent, as the sole stockholder of MergerSub, is the only vote of the stockholders of Parent or the stockholders of MergerSub necessary to adopt this Agreement.

4.12 Compliance with Applicable Laws; Regulatory Matters

Parent and its subsidiaries hold all permits, licenses, certificates, franchises, registrations, variances, exemptions, orders and approvals of all Governmental Authorities, except for those which the failure to hold would not reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect (the "Parent Permits"). Parent and its subsidiaries are in compliance with the terms of the Parent Permits, except where the failure so to comply would not reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect. The businesses of Parent and its subsidiaries are not being and have not been conducted in violation of any law, ordinance, regulation, judgment, decree, injunction, rule or order of any Governmental Authority, except for violations which would not reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect. As of the date of this Agreement, no investigation by any Governmental Authority with respect to Parent or any of its material subsidiaries is pending or, to the Knowledge of Parent, threatened in writing, other than investigations which would not reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect.

4.13 Ownership of Company Shares

Neither Parent nor MergerSub is, nor at any time during the last three years has it been, an "interested stockholder" of Company as defined in Section 203 of the DGCL. Neither Parent nor MergerSub owns (directly or indirectly, beneficially or of record) and is not a party to any agreement, arrangement or understanding for the purpose of acquiring, holding, voting or disposing of, in each case, any shares of capital stock of Company (other than as contemplated by this Agreement).

4.14 Financing

Parent represents that as of the date hereof it has, and on the Closing Date it will have and will cause MergerSub or the Surviving Corporation as the case may be to have, access to sufficient funds to deliver (i) the Merger Consideration to the Paying Agent in accordance with Section 2.5(a) and (ii) cash in an aggregate amount necessary to satisfy the Surviving Corporation's payment obligations to holders of Company Stock Options in accordance with Section 2.5(i).

A-22

Article 5 Events Prior to Closing

5.1 General

Pending Closing, each Party shall use its reasonable best efforts to take all actions and to do all things necessary in order to consummate the Merger (including, in the case of Company, satisfaction, but not waiver, of the Company Closing Conditions, and in the case of Parent and MergerSub, satisfaction, but not waiver, of the Parent Closing Conditions).

5.2 Conduct of Business by Company

Pending Closing:

- (a) Company shall, and shall cause each Subsidiary to, conduct the Business only in the Ordinary Course of Business and with no less diligence and effort than would be applied in the absence of this Agreement; and
- (b) Company shall not, and shall cause each Subsidiary not to, take any affirmative action that results in the occurrence of an event described in Section 3.20 or fail to take any reasonable action within its control that would avoid the occurrence of an event described in Section 3.20 (other than capital expenditures in fiscal year 2004 consistent with the level of capital expenditures in fiscal year 2003).

5.3 Stockholders Meeting

Subject to Section 5.7 hereof, Company shall take all lawful action to (i) cause a special meeting of its Stockholders (the "Stockholders Meeting") to be duly called and held as soon as possible for the purpose of obtaining Stockholder Approval and (ii) solicit proxies from its Stockholders to obtain Stockholder Approval. Company's board of directors shall recommend approval and adoption of this Agreement and the Merger by Company's Stockholders and, except as permitted by Section 5.7(c), shall not withdraw, amend, or modify their respective recommendations in a manner adverse to Parent (or announce publicly its intention to do so). In this regard, Company shall:

- (a) as promptly as practicable after the date of this Agreement, prepare and file with the SEC a preliminary proxy statement containing the information required to be disclosed to the Stockholders in connection with the vote of the Stockholders to provide Stockholder Approval, give Parent the opportunity to review the preliminary proxy statement prior to its being filed with the SEC, and, after consultation with Parent, respond promptly to any comments made by the SEC with respect to the preliminary proxy statement and cause a definitive proxy statement (the "*Proxy Statement*") to be mailed to the Stockholders; and
- (b) subject to the fiduciary duties of the Board of Directors and Section 5.7 of this Agreement, include in the Proxy Statement the recommendation of Company's board of directors that the Stockholders vote in favor of adoption of this Agreement;
- (c) subject to the fiduciary duties of the Board of Directors and Section 5.7 of this Agreement, use its reasonable best efforts to obtain Stockholder Approval; and
- (d) otherwise comply in all material respects with all legal requirements applicable to the Stockholders Meeting.

After the date hereof, none of Parent, MergerSub or any of Parent's other subsidiaries shall purchase, offer to purchase or enter into any contract, agreement or understanding with respect to Company Shares, except pursuant to the Merger and the Voting Agreement.

A-23

5.4 Approvals and Consents; Cooperation

Each of the Company and Parent shall cooperate with each other and use (and shall cause their respective Subsidiaries to use) its reasonable efforts to take or cause to be taken all actions, and do or cause to be done all things, necessary, proper or advisable on their part under this Agreement and applicable laws to consummate and make effective the Merger and the other transactions contemplated by this Agreement as soon as practicable, including (i) preparing and filing as promptly as practicable (including, without limitation, filing the notifications required by the New York City Business Integrity Commission within five (5) business days following the date of this Agreement) all documentation to effect all necessary applications, notices, petitions, filings, tax ruling requests and other documents and to obtain as promptly as practicable all consents, waivers, licenses, orders, registrations, approvals, permits, tax rulings and authorizations necessary or advisable to be obtained from any third party and/or any Governmental Authority in order to consummate the Merger or any of the other transactions contemplated by this Agreement, (ii) taking such reasonable steps as may be necessary to obtain all such consents, waivers,

licenses, registrations, permits, authorizations, tax rulings, orders and approvals and (iii) with respect to Parent, taking such reasonable steps as may be necessary to assist Company with its obligations pursuant to Section 5.3. Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, each of the Company and Parent agrees to make all necessary filings in connection with the Required Regulatory Approvals as promptly as practicable after the date of this Agreement, and to use its reasonable efforts to furnish or cause to be furnished, as promptly as practicable, all information and documents requested with respect to such Required Regulatory Approvals and shall otherwise cooperate with the applicable Governmental Authority in order to obtain any Required Regulatory Approvals in as expeditious a manner as possible. Each of the Company and Parent shall use its best efforts to resolve such objections, if any, as any Governmental Authority may assert with respect to this Agreement and the transactions contemplated hereby in connection with the Required Regulatory Approvals. In the event that a suit is instituted by a Person or Governmental Authority challenging this Agreement and the transactions contemplated hereby as violative of applicable antitrust or competition laws, each of the Company and Parent shall use its best efforts to resist or resolve such suit. The Company and Parent each shall, upon request by the other, furnish the other with all information concerning itself, its Subsidiaries, directors, officers and stockholders and such other matters as may reasonably be necessary or advisable in connection with any statement, filing, ruling request, notice or application made by or on behalf of the Company, Parent or any of their respective Subsidiaries to any third party and/or any Governmental Authority in connection with the Merger or the other transactions contemplated by this Agreement.

5.5 Access to Information

Pending Closing, Company shall, and shall cause each Subsidiary to (i) give Parent and its representatives (including counsel, financial advisors and accountants) access during normal business hours (but without unreasonable interference with operations) to its Facilities and Books and Records and other documents and (ii) make its officers and employees available to respond to reasonable inquiries regarding the Company, the Subsidiaries and the Business. Company shall furnish Parent and its representatives with all information and copies of all documents concerning the Company, the Subsidiaries and the Business, and the Company Shares and Company Options, that Parent and its representatives reasonably request. Company shall furnish to Parent, at the earliest time that they are available, such monthly and quarterly financial statements and data as are routinely prepared by Company.

5.6 Notice of Developments

Pending Closing, the Parties shall promptly give Notice to each of the other Parties of: (i) any fact or circumstance of which a Party becomes aware that causes or constitutes an inaccuracy in any of Party's representations and warranties in Articles 3 or 4 on the date of this Agreement that would

A-24

reasonably be expected to result in a failure to satisfy any of the conditions in Section 6.1 or 6.2; (ii) any breach of or default of any Party's other obligations in this Article 5 that would reasonably be expected to result in a failure to satisfy any of the conditions in Section 6.1 or 6.2; or (iii) the occurrence of any event that may make satisfaction of any of the conditions in Section 6.1 or 6.2 impossible or unlikely; but the delivery of any Notice pursuant to this Section 5.6 shall not cure such breach or non-compliance or limit or otherwise affect the rights, obligations or remedies available to any Party under this Agreement.

5.7 Acquisition Proposals

(a) Immediately after the execution and delivery of this Agreement, Company shall, and shall cause its affiliates and their respective officers, directors, employees, investment bankers, attorneys, accountants and other advisors and representatives to, cease and terminate any existing activities, discussions or negotiations with any parties previously conducted in respect of any possible Acquisition Proposal. Company shall take all necessary steps promptly to inform the individuals or entities referred to in the next sentence of this Section 5.7(a) of the obligations undertaken in this Section 5.7(a). From the date of this Agreement and prior to the earlier of the Effective Time or the Termination Date, Company shall not, and shall not authorize or cause any Subsidiary or any officer, director or employee of Company or any Subsidiary, or any investment

banker, attorney, accountant or other advisor or representative of Company or any Subsidiary, to, directly or indirectly, (i) solicit, initiate or knowingly encourage the submission of any Acquisition Proposal or (ii) participate in any discussions or negotiations regarding, or furnish to any Person any information in respect of, or take any other action to facilitate, any Acquisition Proposal or any inquiries or the making of any proposal that constitutes, or reasonably would be expected to lead to, any Acquisition Proposal.

- (b) Notwithstanding the limitation provided for in clause (ii) of the second sentence of Section 5.7(a), if Company receives a bona fide written proposal or offer that Company's board of directors and the Special Committee determine in good faith is or would reasonably be expected to result in a third party making a Superior Company Proposal, Company may (A) furnish information with respect to Company to the Person making such proposal or offer (if the Person first enters into a confidentiality agreement with Company containing restrictions as to confidentiality substantially equivalent to or more protective of Company than those in the confidentiality agreement between Company and Parent), and (B) participate in discussions or negotiations with such person regarding such proposal or offer.
- (c) Except as expressly permitted by this Section 5.7, Company's board of directors and the Special Committee shall not approve or recommend to stockholders any Acquisition Proposal. Nothing contained in this Agreement shall prohibit Company from complying with Rule 14e-2 promulgated under the Exchange Act with regard to any Acquisition Proposal or making any disclosure to Company's Stockholders which, in the good faith reasonable judgment of Company's board of directors, is required under applicable Law. Notwithstanding anything contained in this Agreement to the contrary, any action by Company's board of directors or the Special Committee permitted by, and taken in accordance with, this Section 5.7 shall not constitute a breach of this Agreement by Company.
- (d) In the event Company receives a Superior Company Proposal, nothing contained in this Agreement shall prevent the Company's board of directors, the Special Committee or an Authorized Officer of the Company from executing or entering into an agreement relating to such Superior Company Proposal and recommending such Superior Company Proposal to the Stockholders; and in such case, Company's board of directors may withdraw, modify or refrain from making its recommendation (including a declaration of advisability) of the Merger and/or adoption of this Agreement, and, to the extent it does so, Company may refrain from calling, providing notice of and holding the Stockholders Meeting to adopt this Agreement and from

A-25

soliciting proxies or consents to secure the vote or written consent of its stockholders to adopt this Agreement and may terminate this Agreement.

5.8 Public Announcements

Each of Parent, Subsidiary and Company shall consult with one another before issuing any press release or otherwise making any public statements in respect of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement, including the Merger, and shall not issue any such press release or make any such public statement prior to such consultation, except as required by Law or the rules of The Nasdaq National Market, Inc.

5.9 Employee Matters

Parent shall cause the Surviving Corporation to honor the obligations of each Target Company under the provisions of each Employee Benefit Plan listed on *Section 3.16(a)* of the Company Disclosure Schedule and all written employment Contracts referred to on *Section 3.22* of the Company Disclosure Schedule, subject to Parent's right to amend or terminate any such benefit plan or employee Contract in accordance with its terms; *provided, however*, that Parent shall not amend or terminate any such benefit plan prior to the first (1st) anniversary of the Effective Date unless the Employee Benefit Plans of Parent in which the

employees of the Target Companies are eligible to participate provide for benefits which, in the aggregate, are substantially equal to or greater than those provided under the plans listed on Schedule 3.16(a). After the Effective Time, the employees of each Target Company shall be eligible to participate in the Employee Benefit Plans of Parent in accordance with their respective terms of participation, as such plans may be in effect from time to time, and at Parent's sole discretion, such employees may become employees of Parent. Service with any Target Company will be counted for purposes of determining periods of eligibility to participate or to vest in benefits under any applicable Employee Benefit Plan of Parent. At Parent's sole discretion, administrative functions, including but not limited to payroll processing, may be transferred to processors of Parent's choosing.

5.10 Fees and Expenses

If the Merger is consummated, the Surviving Corporation shall pay the legal, financial advisory and accounting fees and expenses of Company in addition to such other reasonable and customary expenses incurred by Company (including, but not limited to, the printing, filing and mailing to Company Stockholders of the Proxy Statement) in connection with the Merger. If the Merger is not consummated, all expenses incurred in connection with this Agreement and the transactions contemplated by this Agreement shall be paid by the Party incurring those expenses.

Article 6 Conditions to Closing

6.1 Conditions of Parent and MergerSub

The respective obligations of Parent and MergerSub to consummate the Merger and to take the other actions that they are respectively required to take at Closing are subject to the satisfaction of each of the following conditions (the "*Parent Closing Conditions*") prior to or at Closing:

(a) (i) the representations and warranties of Company in Article 3 that are qualified by reference to a Material Adverse Effect are true and correct on the Closing Date as if they were made at and as of Closing (other than representations and warranties that address matters only as of a certain date, which need only be true and correct as of such certain date), and (ii) the representations and warranties of Company in Article 3 that are not so qualified are true and correct in all material respects on the Closing Date as if they were made at and as of Closing (other than representations and warranties that address matters only as of a certain date, which need only be true and correct in all material respects as of such certain date), except, in each case,

A-26

for representations and warranties the breach of which has not had, and would not reasonably be expected to have, a Material Adverse Effect;

- (b) Company shall have complied with all covenants applicable to Company set forth in this Agreement except for such non-compliance as would not reasonably be expected to result in a Material Adverse Effect;
- (c) the receipt of the consent, approval and authorization required for consummation of the Merger by the New York City Business Integrity Commission;
- (d) holders of Company Shares representing no more than five percent (5%) of the outstanding shares of Company Common Stock have exercised (and not withdrawn or otherwise forfeited) the rights of a dissenting stockholder under Section 262 of the DGCL with respect to their Company Shares;
 - (e) Stockholder Approval has been obtained; and

(f) no temporary restraining order, preliminary or permanent injunction or other order issued by a court or other Governmental Authority of competent jurisdiction shall be in effect and have the effect of making the Merger illegal or otherwise prohibiting consummation of the Merger; provided, however, that the provisions of this Section 6.1(f) shall not be available to Parent or MergerSub if either of such Parties' failure to fulfill its obligations pursuant to Sections 5.4 or 5.5 shall have been the cause of, or shall have resulted in, such order or injunction.

Parent and MergerSub may waive any Parent Closing Condition specified in this Section 6.1 by a written waiver delivered to Company at any time prior to or at Closing.

6.2 Conditions of Company

The obligation of Company to consummate the Merger and to take the other actions that it is required to take at Closing is subject to the satisfaction of each of the following conditions (the "Company Closing Conditions") prior to or at Closing:

- (a) (i) the representations and warranties of Parent and MergerSub in Article 4 that are qualified by reference to a Material Adverse Effect are true and correct on the Closing Date as if they were made at and as of Closing (other than representations and warranties that address matters only as of a certain date, which need only be true and correct as of such certain date), and (ii) the representations and warranties of Parent and MergerSub in Article 4 that are not so qualified are true and correct in all material respects on the Closing Date as if they were made at and as of Closing (other than representations and warranties that address matters only as of a certain date, which need only be true and correct in all material respects as of such certain date), except, in each case, for representations and warranties the breach of which has not had, and would not reasonably be expected to have, a Material Adverse Effect;
- (b) Parent and MergerSub shall have complied with all covenants applicable to Parent or MergerSub set forth in this Agreement except for such non-compliance as would not reasonably be expected to result in a Material Adverse Effect;
- (c) receipt of the consent, approval and authorization required by the New York City Business Integrity Commission for consummation of the Merger;
 - (d) Stockholder Approval has been obtained; and
- (e) no temporary restraining order, preliminary or permanent injunction or other order issued by a court or other Governmental Authority of competent jurisdiction shall be in effect and have the effect of making the Merger illegal or otherwise prohibiting consummation of the Merger; *provided, however*, that the provisions of this Section 6.2(e) shall not be available to Company if

A-27

such Party's failure to fulfill its obligations pursuant to Sections 5.4 or 5.5 shall have been the cause of, or shall have resulted in, such order or injunction.

Company may waive any Company Closing Condition specified in this Section 6.2 by a written waiver delivered to Parent and MergerSub at any time prior to or at Closing.

Article 7 Non-Survival of Representations, Warranties and Agreements; No Other Representations and Warranties

None of the representations, warranties, covenants and other agreements in this Agreement or in any instrument delivered pursuant to this Agreement, including any rights arising out of any breach of such representations, warranties, covenants and other agreements, shall survive the Effective Time, except for those covenants and agreements contained herein and therein that by their terms apply or are to be performed in whole or in part after the Effective Time and this Article 7. Each party hereto agrees that, except for the representations and warranties contained in this Agreement, none of Company, Parent or MergerSub makes any other representations or warranties, and each hereby disclaims any other representations and warranties made by itself or any of its officers, directors, employees, agents, financial and legal advisors or other representatives, with respect to the execution and delivery of this Agreement, the documents and the instruments referred to herein, or the transactions contemplated hereby or thereby, notwithstanding the delivery or disclosure to the other party or the other party's representatives of any documentation or other information with respect to any one or more of the foregoing.

Article 8 Termination, Amendment and Waiver

8.1 Termination by Company or Parent

This Agreement may be terminated:

- (a) at any time prior to the Effective Time, whether before or after Stockholder Approval, by mutual written consent of the Parties by action of their respective boards of directors (or committees of the respective boards of directors delegated with such authority);
- (b) by either Company or Parent, if the Merger shall not have been consummated by the Outside Date; *provided*, that such Outside Date may, at Company's option, be extended at one or more times to a date which is up to an additional ninety (90) days from the Outside Date in the event all conditions to effect the Merger other than those set forth in Sections 6.1(c) and 6.2(c) (the "Extension Conditions") have been or are capable of being satisfied at the time of such extension and the Extension Conditions have been or are reasonably capable of being satisfied on or prior to the date which is an additional ninety (90) days from the Outside Date; *provided, further*, that the right to terminate this Agreement under this Section 8.1(b) shall not be available to any Party whose failure to fulfill any obligation under this Agreement has been the cause of, or resulted in, the failure of the Merger to occur on or before such date; or
- (c) by either the Company or Parent, if any Governmental Authority shall have issued an order, decree or ruling or taken any other action (which order, decree, ruling or other action the parties shall have used their reasonable efforts to resist, resolve or lift, as applicable), permanently restraining, enjoining or otherwise prohibiting the transactions contemplated by this Agreement, and such order, decree, ruling or other action shall have become final and nonappealable, provided, however, that neither Company nor Parent may terminate this Agreement pursuant to this Section 8.1(c) unless the Party seeking to terminate this Agreement has used its best efforts to

A-28

oppose any such governmental order or decision or to have such order or decision vacated or made inapplicable to the Merger contemplated by this Agreement.

8.2 Termination by Company

Company may terminate this Agreement:

(a) if the Company enters into a definitive agreement providing for the implementation of a Superior Company Proposal; or

(b) if Stockholder Approval is not obtained at the Stockholders Meeting by reason of failure to obtain the required vote at such meeting or any adjournment thereof.

8.3 Termination by Parent

Parent may terminate this Agreement:

- (a) if (i) Company's board of directors or the Special Committee withdraws or materially and adversely to Parent modifies its approval of this Agreement and the Merger or its recommendations to the Stockholders (other than as a result of a breach by Parent or MergerSub of a material representation, warranty or obligation under this Agreement or the failure of any Company Closing Condition) (it being understood, however, that for all purposes of this Agreement, the fact that Company has supplied any Person with information regarding Company or has entered into discussions or negotiations with such Person as permitted by this Agreement, or the public disclosure of such facts, shall not be deemed a withdrawal or modification of the Company's board of directors or the Special Committee's recommendation of the Merger or the adoption of this Agreement or (ii) Company enters into a definitive agreement with respect to an Acquisition Proposal; or
- (b) if Stockholder Approval is not obtained at the Stockholder Meeting by reason of failure to obtain the required vote at such meeting or any adjournment thereof.

8.4 Effect of Termination

(a) In the event of the termination of this Agreement pursuant to this Article 8, the Merger shall be abandoned and this Agreement (other than this Section 8.4, Section 5.10 and Section 10.1) shall become void and of no effect, without (subject to this Section 8.4) any Liability on the part of any Party (or of any of its directors, officers, employees, agents, legal and financial advisors, or other representatives).

(b) If:

- (1) Parent terminates this Agreement pursuant to Section 8.3(a), Company shall pay Parent a termination fee of \$1,500,000; or
- (2) if Company terminates this Agreement pursuant to Section 8.2(a) and at such time this Agreement was terminable by Parent pursuant to Section 8.3(a), Company shall pay Parent a termination fee of \$1,500,000; or
- (3) if Company terminates this Agreement pursuant to Section 8.1(b), and all of the conditions to Closing set forth in Section 6.1 were at such time satisfied or capable of being satisfied, or the failure to satisfy such conditions was a result of Parent's or MergerSub's breach of this Agreement, Parent shall pay Company a termination fee of \$1.500,000.

Any termination fee payable under this Paragraph 8.4(b) shall be paid by a wire transfer of immediately available funds within two business days after receipt of demand for payment from the Party to whom the fee is owed accompanied by appropriate wire transfer instructions.

A-29

(c) The Parties acknowledge that the agreements contained in Section 8.4(b) are an integral part of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement and constitute liquidated damages and not a penalty, and that, without these agreements, the Parties would not have entered into this Agreement. If a Party fails to pay a termination fee that it is required to pay under Section 8.4(b), and, in order to obtain payment, the Party to whom the fee is owed brings suit which results in a judgment against the defaulting Party, the defaulting Party shall pay the costs and expenses of the Party bringing suit (including attorneys' fees), together with interest from the date of termination of

this Agreement on all of the amounts owed at the prime rate of Bank of America, N.A., in effect from time to time during such period plus two percent (2%).

8.5 Amendment

This Agreement may be amended by the parties hereto, by action taken or authorized by their respective Boards of Directors, at any time before or after approval of the matters presented in connection with the Merger by the stockholders of Company, but, after any such approval, no amendment shall be made which by law or in accordance with the rules of The Nasdaq National Market, Inc. requires further approval by such stockholders without such further approval. This Agreement may not be amended except by an instrument in writing signed on behalf of each of the parties hereto.

8.6 Extension and Waiver

At any time prior to the Effective Time, the parties hereto, by action taken or authorized by their respective Boards of Directors, may, to the extent legally allowed, (i) extend the time for the performance of any of the obligations or other acts of the other parties hereto, (ii) waive any inaccuracies in the representations and warranties contained herein or in any document delivered pursuant hereto and (iii) waive compliance with any of the agreements or conditions contained herein. Any agreement on the part of a party hereto to any such extension or waiver shall be valid only if set forth in a written instrument signed on behalf of such party. No delay on the part of any party hereto in exercising any right, power or privilege hereunder shall operate as a waiver thereof, nor shall any waiver on the part of any party hereto of any right, power or privilege hereunder operate as a waiver of any other right, power or privilege hereunder, nor shall any single or partial exercise of any right, power or privilege hereunder preclude any other or further exercise thereof or the exercise of any other right, power or privilege hereunder. Unless otherwise provided, the rights and remedies herein provided are cumulative and are not exclusive of any rights or remedies which the parties hereto may otherwise have at law or in equity. The failure of any party to this Agreement to assert any of its rights under this Agreement or otherwise shall not constitute a waiver of those rights.

Article 9 Events Following Merger

9.1 Continuing Indemnification

At or promptly following the Effective Time, Parent shall cause the certificate of incorporation and bylaws of the Surviving Corporation to contain provisions with respect to indemnification, advancement of expenses and exculpation from liabilities for acts or omissions occurring at or prior to the Effective Time substantially identical to those in Company's certificate of incorporation and bylaws as of the date of this Agreement, and for a period of six (6) years from the Effective Time, Parent shall cause those provisions not to be amended, repealed or otherwise modified in any manner that would adversely affect the rights thereunder of the individuals who, at the Effective Time, were directors, officers, employees or agents of Company. Prior to the Effective Time, Company shall, in consultation with Parent, purchase policies or extensions of current policies of directors' and officers' liability insurance (a) providing coverage and amounts and containing terms and conditions which are, in the aggregate, materially no less advantageous to the insured than those policies currently maintained by Company set

A-30

forth on Section 3.17(a) of the Company Disclosure Schedule on the date of this Agreement, (b) which shall not result in any gaps or lapses in coverage with respect to matters occurring prior to the Effective Time, and (c) providing coverage for a six (6) year period after the Effective Time with respect to claims arising from acts, facts, errors, omissions or events that occurred on or before the Effective Time including, without limitation, in respect of the transactions contemplated hereby. On or before the Effective Time, the parties shall use their reasonable best efforts to obtain such policies in the form previously described. Parent shall, and shall cause the Surviving Corporation to, maintain such policies in full force and effect, and continue to honor Company's obligations thereunder for the six (6) year period provided herein. This Section 9.1 shall

survive the consummation of the Merger at the Effective Time, is binding on all successors and assigns of the Surviving Corporation, and is enforceable by individuals and their respective heirs and legal representatives who, at the Effective Time, were directors or officers of Company. From and after the Effective Time through the sixth anniversary of the date on which the Effective Time occurs, Parent and the Surviving Corporation shall jointly and severally indemnify and hold harmless each person who is now, or has been at any time prior to the date hereof, or who becomes prior to the Effective Time, a director, officer, employee or agent of the Company and of any of its Subsidiaries (the "Covered Parties"), against all claims, losses, liabilities, damages, judgments, fines and reasonable fees, costs and expenses, including attorneys' fees disbursements (collectively, the "Costs"), incurred in connection with any claim, action, suit, proceeding or investigation, whether civil, criminal, administrative or investigative, arising out of or pertaining to (i) the fact that the Covered Party is or was an officer, director, employee or agent of the Company or any of its subsidiaries or (ii) matters existing or occurring at or prior to the Effective Time (including this Agreement and the transactions and actions contemplated hereby), whether asserted or claimed prior to, at or after the Effective Time, to the fullest extent permitted under applicable law. Each Covered Party will be entitled to advancement of expenses incurred in the defense of any claim, action, suit, proceeding or investigation from Parent and Surviving Corporation within ten business days of receipt by Parent from the Covered Party of a request therefore; provided that any person to whom expenses are advanced provides an undertaking, to the extent required by the DGCL, to repay such advances if it is ultimately determined that such person is not entitled to indemnification.

Notwithstanding anything herein to the contrary, if any claim, action, suit proceeding or investigation (whether arising before, at or after the Effective Time) is made against any Covered Party, on or prior to the sixth anniversary of the Effective Time, the provisions of this Section 9.1 shall continue in effect until the final disposition of such claim, action, suit, proceeding or investigation.

9.2 Certain Records

Parent shall permit the Stockholders designated by Company prior to the Effective Time (but no more than five (5) in number) to retain copies of (i) all records and correspondence of Company relating to any proposed sale, merger or similar transaction involving Company, including any bids received from potential acquirors and analyses relating to Parent, and (ii) any other material records of Company, including Tax returns, reports or forms filed on Company's behalf for a valid purpose at the sole cost of such persons.

9.3 Performance by MergerSub

Parent shall cause MergerSub prior to the Effective Time to comply with its obligations hereunder and shall, subject to the terms herein, cause MergerSub to consummate the Merger as contemplated herein and whenever prior to the Effective Time this Agreement requires MergerSub to take any action, such requirement shall be deemed to include an undertaking of Parent to cause MergerSub to take such action.

A-31

Article 10 Miscellaneous

10.1 Confidentiality

Pending Closing and following termination of this Agreement for any reason, the agreement executed by the Parties on December 14, 2000, as amended, concerning confidentiality shall remain in full force and effect.

10.2 Notices

All Notices under this Agreement shall be in writing and sent by certified or registered mail, overnight messenger service, personal delivery or facsimile transmission, as follows:

(a) if to Company, to:

Scherer Healthcare, Inc. 120 Interstate North Parkway, S.E. Suite 305 Atlanta, Georgia 30339

Attention: Mr. Robert P. Scherer, Jr.

President and CEO

Facsimile: (847) 367-9462

with a copy to:

Latham & Watkins
233 South Wacker Drive
Suite 5800
Chicago, Illinois 60606
Attention: Mark D. Gerstein, Esq.
Facsimile: (312) 993-9767

(b) if to Parent and MergerSub, to:

Stericycle, Inc.
28161 North Keith Drive
Lake Forest, Illinois 60045
Attention: Mr. Mark C. Miller
President and CEO

Facsimile: (847) 367-9462

with a copy to:

Johnson and Colmar 300 South Wacker Drive Suite 1000 Chicago, Illinois 60606 Attention: Craig P. Colmar, Esq.

Facsimile: (312) 922-1980

All Notices sent by certified or registered mail shall be considered to have been given three business days after being deposited in the mail. All Notices sent by overnight courier service or personal delivery shall be considered to have been given when actually received by the intended recipient. All notices sent by facsimile transmission shall be considered to have been given when transmitted with confirmation that transmission was made, so long as a copy was also sent on the same day in either of the manners provided in the sentence immediately preceding this sentence. A Party may change its or

A-32

their address or facsimile number for purposes of this Agreement by Notice in accordance with this Section 10.2.

10.3 Entire Agreement

This Agreement supersedes all prior agreements between the Parties with respect to its subject matter and constitutes (together with the Schedules and the Parties' Closing Documents) a complete and exclusive statement of the terms of the agreement between the Parties with respect to its subject matter; *provided*, that the confidentiality agreement described in Section 10.1 shall not be integrated with this Agreement. This Agreement may not be amended except by a written agreement signed by the Party to be charged with the amendment.

10.4 Assignment

No Party may assign any of its rights under this Agreement without the prior written consent of the other Party or Parties.

10.5 No Third Party Beneficiaries

Except for Section 9.1 (which is intended to be for the benefit of the Persons covered thereby and may be enforced by such Persons), nothing in this Agreement shall be considered to give any Person other than the Parties any legal or equitable right, claim or remedy under or in respect of this Agreement or any provision of this Agreement and this Agreement and all of its provisions are for the sole and exclusive benefit of the Parties and their respective successors and permitted assigns.

10.6 Severability

If any term or other provision of this Agreement is invalid, illegal or incapable of being enforced by any law or public policy, all other terms and provisions of this Agreement shall nevertheless remain in full force and effect so long as the economic or legal substance of the transactions contemplated hereby is not affected in any manner materially adverse to any party. Upon such determination that any term or other provision is invalid, illegal or incapable of being enforced, the parties hereto shall negotiate in good faith to modify this Agreement so as to effect the original intent of the parties as closely as possible in an acceptable manner in order that the transactions contemplated hereby are consummated as originally contemplated to the greatest extent possible. Any provision of this Agreement held invalid or unenforceable only in part, degree or certain jurisdictions will remain in full force and effect to the extent not held invalid or unenforceable. To the extent permitted by applicable law, each party waives any provision of law which renders any provision of this Agreement invalid, illegal or unenforceable in any respect.

10.7 Captions

The captions of articles and sections of this Agreement are for convenience only and shall not affect this the construction or interpretation of this Agreement.

10.8 Construction

All references in this Agreement to "Section" or "Sections" refer to the corresponding section or sections of this Agreement. All words used in this Agreement shall be construed to be of the appropriate gender or number as the context requires. Unless otherwise expressly provided, the word "including" does not limit the preceding words or terms.

10.9 Counterparts

This Agreement may be executed in one or more counterparts, each of which shall be considered an original copy of this Agreement and all of which, when taken together, shall be considered to constitute one and the same agreement.

A-33

10.10 Governing Law; Jurisdiction; Waiver of Jury Trial

- (a) This Agreement shall be governed and construed in accordance with the laws of the State of Delaware, without regard to the laws that might be applicable under conflicts of law principles.
- (b) Each of the parties hereto hereby irrevocably and unconditionally submits, for itself and its property, to the exclusive jurisdiction of any Delaware State court, or Federal court of the United States of America, sitting in Delaware, and any appellate court from any thereof, in any action or proceeding arising out of or relating to this Agreement or the agreements delivered in

connection herewith or the transactions contemplated hereby or thereby or for recognition or enforcement of any judgment relating thereto, and each of the parties hereby irrevocably and unconditionally (i) agrees not to commence any such action or proceeding except in such courts, (ii) agrees that any claim in respect of any such action or proceeding may be heard and determined in such Delaware State court or, to the extent permitted by law, in such Federal court, (iii) waives, to the fullest extent it may legally and effectively do so, any objection which it may now or hereafter have to the laying of venue of any such action or proceeding in any such Delaware State or Federal court, and (iv) waives, to the fullest extent permitted by law, the defense of an inconvenient forum to the maintenance of such action or proceeding in any such Delaware State or Federal court. Each of the parties hereto agrees that a final judgment in any such action or proceeding shall be conclusive and may be enforced in other jurisdictions by suit on the judgment or in any other manner provided by law. Each party to this Agreement irrevocably consents to service of process in the manner provided for notices in Section 10.2. Nothing in this Agreement will affect the right of any party to this Agreement to serve process in any other manner permitted by law.

- (c) EACH PARTY ACKNOWLEDGES AND AGREES THAT ANY CONTROVERSY WHICH MAY ARISE UNDER THIS AGREEMENT IS LIKELY TO INVOLVE COMPLICATED AND DIFFICULT ISSUES, AND THEREFORE IT HEREBY IRREVOCABLY AND UNCONDITIONALLY WAIVES ANY RIGHT IT MAY HAVE TO A TRIAL BY JURY IN RESPECT OF ANY LITIGATION DIRECTLY OR INDIRECTLY ARISING OUT OF OR RELATING TO THIS AGREEMENT AND ANY OF THE AGREEMENTS DELIVERED IN CONNECTION HEREWITH OR THE TRANSACTIONS CONTEMPLATED HEREBY OR THEREBY. EACH PARTY CERTIFIES AND ACKNOWLEDGES THAT (i) NO REPRESENTATIVE, AGENT OR ATTORNEY OF ANY OTHER PARTY HAS REPRESENTED, EXPRESSLY OR OTHERWISE, THAT SUCH OTHER PARTY WOULD NOT, IN THE EVENT OF LITIGATION, SEEK TO ENFORCE EITHER OF SUCH WAIVERS, (ii) IT UNDERSTANDS AND HAS CONSIDERED THE IMPLICATIONS OF SUCH WAIVERS, (iii) IT MAKES SUCH WAIVERS VOLUNTARILY, AND (iv) IT HAS BEEN INDUCED TO ENTER INTO THIS AGREEMENT BY, AMONG OTHER THINGS, THE MUTUAL WAIVERS AND CERTIFICATIONS IN THIS SECTION 10.10(c).
- (d) The parties agree that irreparable damage would occur in the event that any of the provisions of this Agreement were not performed in accordance with their specific terms or were otherwise breached. It is accordingly agreed that the parties shall be entitled to an injunction or injunctions to prevent breaches of this Agreement and to enforce specifically the terms and provisions of this Agreement.

10.11 Binding Effect

This Agreement shall apply to, be binding in all respects upon and inure to the benefit of Parties and their respective successors and permitted assigns.

Stericycle, Inc.

Title: President/CEO

A-34

In witness, the Parties have executed this Agreement.

Ву:	/s/ MARK C. MILLER
Name:	Mark C. Miller

Sharps Acquisition Corporation By: /s/ MARK C. MILLER Name: Mark C. Miller Title: President/CEO Scherer Healthcare, Inc. By: /s/ DONALD P. ZIMA Name: Donald P. Zima Title: VP and CFO

Annex I

A-35

Definitions

Acquisition Proposal means an inquiry, offer or proposal (other than the Proposed Transaction) regarding any of the following matters:

- (a) an investment in the Company representing more than twenty-five percent (25%) of the Company's capital stock or a purchase from the Company of more than twenty-five percent (25%) of the shares of its capital stock or any debt securities convertible into or exchangeable for more than twenty-five percent (25%) of the shares of its capital stock;
- (b) a merger, consolidation, share exchange, recapitalization, business combination or other similar transaction involving all of the Company's equity interests or all Company Common Stock;
- (c) the sale, lease, exchange, mortgage, pledge, transfer or other disposition of all or substantially all the Company's assets in a single transaction or a series of related transactions;
- (d) a tender offer or exchange offer for twenty-five percent (25%) or more of the outstanding shares of the Company's capital stock or the filing of a registration statement under the Securities Act of 1933 in connection with such a tender offer or exchange offer;
- (e) purchase of more than twenty-five percent (25%) of the Company's capital stock directly or indirectly owned or controlled by Company's largest Stockholder as of the date of this Agreement; or
- (f) any public announcement of a proposal, plan or intention to do, or any agreement to engage in, any of the matters described in the preceding clauses (a), (b), (c), (d) and (e).

Agreement is defined in the preamble to this

Authorized Officer means a corporate officer of a corporation who is duly authorized to perform the specified action.

Board of Directors means the board of directors of a corporation.

Books and Records means books, records, ledgers, files, documents, correspondence, lists, reports, creative materials, advertising and promotional materials and other printed or written materials.

Business means Company's business of managing medical waste and distributing health-care products.

Certificate of Merger is defined in Section 2.3(a).

Cleanup Liability means any Liability under any Environmental Law for corrective action, including any investigation, cleanup, removal, containment or other remedial or response action or activity of the type covered by the Comprehensive Environmental Response, Compensation and Liability Act of 1980.

Closing is defined in Section 2.2.

Closing Date is defined in Section 2.2.

Closing Documents means, in respect of a Party, the documents, instruments and agreements that it is required to deliver or enter into at Closing pursuant to the terms of this Agreement.

Common Stock Merger Consideration means, in respect of a share of Company Common Stock, Eight Dollars and Fifty-seven Cents (\$8.57).

Company means Scherer Healthcare, Inc., a Delaware corporation.

A-I-1

Company Closing Conditions is defined in Section 6.2.

Company Common Stock means Company's common stock, par value \$.01 per share.

Company Disclosure Schedule is defined in Article 3.

Company Preferred Stock means Company's preferred stock, par value \$.01 per share, designated as Series A Cumulative Convertible Preferred Stock.

Company SEC Reports is defined in Section 3.7.

Company Shares means shares of Company Preferred Stock or Company Common Stock, or both.

Company Stock Certificate is defined in Section 2.5(b).

Company Stock Option means an option to purchase shares of Company Common Stock.

Consent means any approval, consent, ratification, waiver or other authorization (including any Permit).

Contract means any legally binding contract, agreement, obligation, promise or undertaking (whether written or oral, and whether express or implied).

Copyrights means all copyrights and copyrightable works, and all applications, registrations and renewals in the United States Copyright Office therefor.

Costs is defined in Section 9.1.

Covered Parties is defined in Section 9.1.

Customer Contract means a Contract with a customer relating to the collection, transportation, treatment or disposal of regulated medical waste, including sharps and sharps containers.

Default means, in respect of a Contract, a breach or violation of or default under the Contract, or the occurrence of an event which with notice or the passage of time (or both) would constitute a breach, violation or default or permit termination, modification or acceleration of the Contract.

DGCL means the General Corporation Law of the State of Delaware, as amended.

Dissenting Share means a Company Share which is issued and outstanding immediately prior to the Effective Time and which is held by a stockholder of Company who did not vote in favor of the Merger or consent thereto in writing and who is entitled to demand and properly demands appraisal of such shares pursuant to, and who has complied with all of the relevant provisions of Section 262 of the DGCL.

Dissenting Stockholder means a Stockholder who holds a Dissenting Share.

Effective Time is defined in Section 2.4(a).

Employee Benefit Plan means (i) an "employee pension plan" as defined in § 3(2) of ERISA, (ii) an "employee welfare benefit plan" as defined in § 3(1) of ERISA or (iii) any other employee benefit or fringe benefit plan or program, whether established by Law, a written agreement or other instrument, or custom or informal understanding.

Environmental Laws means the Comprehensive Environmental Response, Compensation and Liability Act of 1980 and Resource Conservation and Recovery Act of 1976, and all other applicable Laws relating to or imposing Liability or standards of conduct for the use, handling, generation, manufacturing, distribution, processing, collection, transportation, transfer, storage, treatment, disposal, clean-up, or Release of Hazardous Materials.

A-I-2

Environmental Liability means any Cleanup Liability or any other Liability under any Environmental Law or Occupational Safety and Health Law, including any Liability arising from a Release of Hazardous Materials at, on, in or under any Facility or other Real Property.

Equipment means machinery, equipment, spare parts, furniture, fixtures and other items of tangible personal property of any type or kind used, held for use or useful in the conduct of the Business (but not including Inventories or Leasehold Improvements).

Equipment Lease means a Contract for the lease of Equipment or for the purchase of Equipment under a conditional sales or title retention agreement.

ERISA means the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974, as amended, and the related regulations issued by the Internal Revenue Service and Department of Labor.

Exchange Act means the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, and the related rules and regulations promulgated by the SEC.

Exchange Fund means cash that Parent deposits with the Paying Agent pursuant to Section 2.5(a).

Expenses means all out-of-pocket expenses (including all fees and expenses of counsel, accountants, investment bankers, experts and consultants) incurred by a Party or on its behalf in connection with, or related to, the authorization, preparation, negotiation, execution and performance of this Agreement and the transactions contemplated hereby, including, in the case of Company, the preparation, filing, printing and mailing of the Proxy Statement and the solicitation of stockholder proxies.

Extension Conditions is defined in Section 8.1(b).

Facility means any office, manufacturing facility, warehouse or other location or site that any Target Company currently leases, operates, occupies or uses, or that it formerly leased, operated, occupied or used, in the conduct of the Business.

Facility Lease means a lease of or other right to operate, occupy or use a Facility that any Company currently leases, operates, occupies or uses in connection with the conduct of the Business.

Former Facility Lease means a lease of a Facility that any Company or any predecessor-in-interest of the Company formerly leased in connection with the conduct of the Business, which term ended after December 31, 1996.

GAAP means United States generally accepted accounting principles.

Governmental Authority means (i) any federal, state, provincial, local, municipal, foreign or other government and (ii) any governmental or quasi-governmental body of any kind (including any administrative or regulatory agency, department, branch, commission or other entity).

Hazardous Materials means any waste or other substance of any kind that is listed, defined, designated or classified under any Law or Order as hazardous, radioactive or toxic.

Internal Revenue Code means the U.S. Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended.

Intellectual Property means Patents, Marks, Copyrights and Proprietary Information owned or used by the Target Companies in their operations as of the date of this Agreement.

June 30 Balance Sheet means the Company's unaudited condensed consolidated balance sheet as of June 30, 2002 included in Company's Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2002.

Knowledge means, in respect of Company or Parent, the actual knowledge of Robert P. Scherer, Jr., Donald P. Zima, William Sweeney and Tim Burns, in the case of the Company or Mark C. Miller,

A-I-3

Richard T. Kogler, Frank J.M. ten Brink and Anthony J. Tomasello, in the case of Parent, of a particular fact or other specified matter.

Law means any law, ordinance, code, regulation, rule of any Governmental Authority.

Leasehold Improvements means depreciable or amortizable improvements made by (or on behalf of) the tenant under a Facility Lease which belong to the tenant and not to the landlord.

Letter of Transmittal is defined in Section 2.5(b).

Liability means any liability or obligation, whether or not known or unknown, absolute or contingent, liquidated or unliquidated, or due or to become due.

Lien means any lien, security interest, claim, community property interest, equitable interest, option, pledge, right of first refusal or other encumbrance.

Marks means trade marks, service marks, brand names and logos and federal and state applications, registrations and renewals therefor.

Material Adverse Effect means:

- (a) when used in respect of Company or in respect of a representation and warranty by Company, any adverse change, circumstance or effect that, individually or in the aggregate with all other adverse changes, circumstances and effects, is or is reasonably likely to be materially adverse to the business, operations, assets, liabilities, financial condition or results of operations of Company and the Subsidiaries taken as a whole or on the ability of Company to consummate the transactions contemplated by this Agreement; *provided, however*, that with respect to the Target Companies the term Material Adverse Effect shall not include (i) any change, circumstance, event or effect that relates to or results primarily from the announcement or other disclosure or consummation of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement or (ii) changes in general economic conditions, financial markets (including fluctuations in the price of shares of Company Shares or shares of capital stock of Parent) or conditions generally affecting the medical waste management, health-care product distribution or related industries; and
- (b) when used in respect of Parent or in respect of a representation and warranty by Parent and MergerSub, any adverse change, circumstance or effect that, individually or in the aggregate with all other adverse changes, circumstances and effects, is or is reasonably likely to be materially adverse to the business, operations, assets, liabilities, financial condition or results of operations of Parent and its subsidiaries taken as a whole or on the ability of Parent and MergerSub to consummate the transactions contemplated by this Agreement.

Material Contract means a Contract listed by the Company in the Company Disclosure Schedule or of a type described in clause (10) of Item 601 of Regulation S-K of the Securities Act.

Merger is defined in Section 2.1.

Merger Consideration is defined in Section 2.4(c).

MergerSub means Sharps Acquisition Corporation, a Delaware corporation and wholly owned subsidiary of Parent.

Notice means any written notice, demand, charge or complaint from any Person.

Occupational Safety and Health Laws means the Occupational Safety and Health Act of 1970, as amended, and all other applicable Laws and Orders intended to provide safe and healthful working conditions and to reduce occupational safety and health hazards.

Officer's Certificate means a certificate signed by an Authorized Officer whose responsibilities extend to the subject matter of the certificate.

A-I-4

Order means any order, judgment, decree, ruling, consent decree, settlement agreement, stipulation or injunction entered or issued by any court, Governmental Authority or arbitrator.

Ordinary Course of Business means, in respect of a Party, an action taken by it which is consistent with its past practices and is taken in the ordinary course of the normal day-to-day operations.

Organizational Documents means the certificate or articles of incorporation and by-laws of a corporation, each as amended to date.

Outside Date means February 28, 2003.

Parent means Stericycle, Inc., a Delaware corporation.

Parent Closing Conditions is defined in Section 6.1.

Parent Disclosure Schedule is defined in Article 4.

Parent Permits is defined in Section 4.12.

Parent SEC Reports is defined in Section 4.6.

Party means both Parent and MergerSub (or either one of them, as the context requires) or Company, and Parties means all of them.

Patents means patents and patent applications and related United States Patent and Trademark Office reissuances, continuations, continuations-in-part, revisions, extensions and reexaminations therefor.

Paying Agent is defined in Section 2.5(a).

Permit means any approval, consent, license, permit, registration, certificate, waiver, confirmation or other authorization issued, granted or otherwise made available by any Governmental Authority including but not limited to all pre-market notifications, pre-market approvals and findings of substantial equivalence filed with or issued by the United States Food and Drug Administration.

Permitted Lien means (i) any Lien for Taxes that are not yet due and payable, (ii) any carrier's, warehouseman's, mechanic's, materialman's, repairman's, landlord's, lessor's or similar statutory Lien incidental to the Ordinary Course of Business or (iii) any Lien the existence of which is not reasonably likely to have a Material Adverse Effect.

Person means any individual, corporation, general or limited partnership, limited liability company, joint venture, association, organization, estate, trust or other entity or any Governmental Authority.

Preferred Stock Merger Consideration means, in respect of a share of Company Preferred Stock, One Hundred Dollars (\$100.00) together with an amount equal to the cumulative dividends, if any, accrued and unpaid on such share to the Effective Time.

Proprietary Information means trade secrets and proprietary or confidential business information, including: (i) ideas, formulas, discoveries and inventions (whether patentable or unpatentable, and whether or not reduced to practice), (ii) know-how, and (iii) computer source codes, programs, software and documentation (other than those that are commercially available).

Proxy Statement is defined in Section 5.3(a).

Real Property means land or an interest in land (other than an interest in a Facility Lease).

Release means a spill, leak, emission, discharge, deposit, dumping or other release into the environment, whether intentional or unintentional.

Required Regulatory Approvals means all authorizations, consents, orders and approvals of, and declarations and filings with, and all expirations of waiting periods imposed by, any Governmental

A-I-5

Authority which, if not obtained in connection with the consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby, would reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect on the Company or materially impair or delay the ability of the Company, Parent or Merger Sub to consummate the transactions contemplated hereby.

SEC means the Securities and Exchange Commission.

Securities Act means the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, and the related rules and regulations promulgated by the SEC.

Special Committee is defined in the third recital at the beginning of this Agreement.

Stockholder means a Person who is the owner of record of one or more Company Shares as of Closing.

Stockholder Approval means the adoption of this Agreement by the affirmative approval of the holders of a majority of the outstanding shares of Company Common Stock as of the record date fixed for such action.

Stockholders Meeting is defined in Section 5.3.

Subsidiary means BioWaste Systems, Inc., a Georgia corporation, Medical Waste Systems, Inc., a Delaware corporation, Scherer Laboratories, Inc., a Texas corporation, ASH Enterprises, Inc., a Georgia corporation, Biofor, Inc., a Georgia corporation, Bio-Waste Management Corporation, a New York corporation, or Scherer Management Company, a Georgia corporation, and Subsidiaries means all of them.

Suit means any action, suit, proceeding or arbitration (whether civil, criminal, administrative or investigative in nature, and whether formal or informal) by, before or in any court, Governmental Authority or arbitrator.

Superior Company Proposal means any proposal made by a third party to acquire more than 50% of the voting power of the equity securities or more than 50% of the assets of Company, pursuant to a tender or exchange offer, a merger, a consolidation, a liquidation or dissolution, a recapitalization, a sale of its assets or otherwise, which a majority of Company's board of directors (or a committee delegated with authority to make such determination) determines in its good faith judgment to be more favorable from a financial point of view to Company Stockholders than the transactions contemplated by this Agreement (after consultation with Company's financial advisor), after considering, among other things, (i) the likelihood and timing of consummation of the proposed transaction and (ii) any amendments or modifications of this Agreement that Parent has offered or proposed at the time of determination.

Surviving Corporation is defined in Section 2.1.

Takeover Statutes is defined in Section 3.25.

Target Company means Company or any Subsidiary, and Target Companies means Company and all Subsidiaries.

Tax means any federal, state, provincial, local, municipal or foreign tax, charge, fee, levy, or similar assessment or liability, imposed by any Governmental Authority, including without limitation, income, franchise, gross receipts, capital stock, profits, withholding, social security, unemployment, real property, personal property, stamp, excise, occupation, sales, use, transfer, value added, estimated or other tax (including any related interest, fines, penalties and additions), and any transferee liability in respect of Taxes and any liability in respect of Taxes imposed by contract, Tax sharing agreement, Tax reimbursement agreement, or any similar agreement.

A-I-6

Tax Return means any return (including any information return), report, statement, form or other document required to be filed with or submitted to any Governmental Authority in connection with the determination, assessment, collection or payment of any Tax.

Threatened means, in respect of a Suit, that Parent (in respect of a Notice to Parent) or Company (in respect of Notice to a Target Company) has Knowledge that Notice has been given that the Suit will be, or is likely to be, initiated in the foreseeable future.

Voting Agreement means that certain Voting Agreement dated as of the date hereof, by and among Parent, MergerSub and Robert P. Scherer, Jr.

A-I-7

Exhibit A

Form of Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of Scherer Healthcare, Inc.

Scherer Healthcare, Inc., a corporation organized and existing under the laws of the State of Delaware (the "Corporation"), certifies as follows:

The Corporation (f/k/a Alo-Scherer Healthcare, Inc.) filed its original Certificate of Incorporation with the Secretary of State of the State of Delaware on December 18, 1981. The Corporation was the surviving corporation in the merger effected by the filing of the Certificate of Merger filed by the Corporation on February 18, 1982. The Corporation filed a Certificate of Amendment on August 19, 2002. The Corporation was the surviving corporation in the merger effected by the filing of the Certificate of Merger filed by the Corporation on [date], 2002. The Corporation has filed this Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation in order to integrate and further amend its Certificate of Incorporation as currently in effect.

This Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation was duly proposed by the Corporation's board of directors and adopted by the Corporation's stockholders in the manner and by the vote prescribed by sections 228, 242 and 245 of the General Corporation Law of the State of Delaware (the "Delaware General Corporation Law").

The Corporation's Certificate of Incorporation, as currently in effect, is amended and restated to read as follows:

Article 1 Name

The name of the Corporation is Scherer Healthcare, Inc.

Article 2 Registered Office and Registered Agent

The address of the Corporation's registered office in the State of Delaware is . The name of the Corporation's registered agent at this address is Corporation Service Company.

Article 3 Purpose

The purpose of the Corporation is to engage in any lawful act or activity for which corporations may be organized under the Delaware General Corporation Law.

Article 4

Capital Stock

The Corporation is authorized to issue 1,000 shares of stock of one class, designated as common stock, having a par value of \$.01 per share.

Article 5 Duration

The Corporation shall have perpetual existence.

A-A-1

Article 6 Bylaws

The Corporation's board of directors is authorized to adopt, amend or repeal the Corporation's bylaws.

Article 7 Number of Directors

The number of directors shall be fixed by, or determined in the manner specified in, the Corporation's bylaws.

Article 8 Business Combinations with Interested Stockholders

The Corporation elects to be governed by Section 203 of the General Corporation Law of the State of Delaware.

Article 9 Limitation on Directors' Liability

A director of the Corporation shall not be personally liable to the Corporation or its stockholders for monetary damages for a breach of the director's fiduciary duty as a director, except for: (i) a breach of the director's duty of loyalty to the Corporation or its stockholders; (ii) an act or omission which was not in good faith or which involved intentional misconduct or a knowing violation of law; (iii) liability under section 174 of the Delaware General Corporation Law for the unlawful payment of dividends or the unlawful purchase or redemption of stock; or (iv) any transaction from which the director derived an improper personal benefit.

If the Delaware General Corporation Law is amended to authorize corporate action further limiting or eliminating the personal liability of directors, the liability of a director of the Corporation shall be further limited or eliminated to the fullest extent permitted by the amendment.

No circumscribing amendment or repeal of this Article 9 shall apply to or have any effect on the personal liability or alleged liability of any director of the Corporation for or in respect of acts or omissions occurring prior to the amendment or repeal.

Article 11 Amendments

The Corporation reserves the right to amend or repeal any provisions of this Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation, and add any new provisions, in the manner now or in the future prescribed by the Delaware General Corporation Law, and all rights conferred upon the Corporation's stockholders by this Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation are subject to this reservation.

In witness, the Corporation has caused this Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation to be signed by its [office and name], and attested to by its [office and name], on [date]. Their signatures

A-A-2

below constitute their respective affirmations and acknowledgements, under penalties of perjury, that this instrument is the Corporation's act and deed and that the facts stated in this instrument are true.

Scher	er Healthcare, Inc.	
Ву		
Name	:	•
Title:		
Attest	:	
Name	::	'
Title:		•
	A-A-3	•

ANNEX B

Voting Agreement

This Agreement is entered into as of October 19, 2002 by Stericycle, Inc., a Delaware corporation ("*Parent*"), Sharps Acquisition Corporation, a Delaware corporation and wholly owned subsidiary of Parent ("*MergerSub*"), and Robert P. Scherer, Jr., a Georgia resident ("*Stockholder*").

Background:

- A. Stockholder is a significant stockholder of Scherer Healthcare, Inc., a Delaware corporation ("Company"). He directly owns 493,983 shares of Company Common Stock, par value \$0.01 per share (the "Direct Shares"), and is the sole stockholder, director and officer of RPS Investments, Inc. ("Holding Company"), which owns 1,224,235.5 shares of Company Common Stock (the "Indirect Shares").
- B. In addition, Stockholder is the sole trustee of a voting trust for the benefit of his adult children (the "Voting Trust"), which was established under that certain Voting Trust Agreement, dated February 23, 1997, by and among Robert P. Scherer, III, Lesley E. Scherer Reeves, Stephen M. Scherer and Mark C. Scherer and which owns 562,739.5 shares of Company Common Stock (the "Voting Trust Shares"). Stockholder is also a co-trustee, with shared voting power, of a trust (the "Irrevocable Trust"), which owns 340,212 shares

of Company Common Stock (the "Irrevocable Trust Shares").

- C. The Direct Shares, the Indirect Shares, the Voting Trust Shares and the Irrevocable Trust Shares together represent approximately 60% of the 4,390,264 shares of Company Common Stock issued and outstanding as of the date of this Agreement.
- D. Concurrently with the execution of this Agreement, Parent, MergerSub and Company have entered into an Agreement and Plan of Merger, dated October 19, 2002 (the "Merger Agreement"), pursuant to which Parent will acquire all of Company's outstanding capital stock for cash through a merger of Company with MergerSub (the "Merger").
- E. Company's board of directors, based upon the unanimous recommendation of a special committee of its board of directors, has resolved to recommend that Company's stockholders of Company approve the Merger Agreement and the consummation of the Merger.
- F. Parent and MergerSub would not have entered into the Merger Agreement without the voting and other assurances provided by Stockholder in this Agreement.

Now, therefore, in consideration of their mutual promises, and intending to be legally bound, the parties agree as follows:

1. Definitions

Capitalized terms used in this Agreement (including the preceding background paragraphs) without being defined have the same meanings that they have in the Merger Agreement.

2. Voting

During the term of this Agreement, Stockholder shall vote all of the Direct Shares, Indirect Shares and Voting Trust Shares in favor of the Merger Agreement and the Merger at the Stockholders Meeting and at any adjournment of the Stockholders Meeting.

During the term of this Agreement, but subject in all cases to any fiduciary or similar duties, obligations or laws relating to Stockholder's status as a trustee, Stockholder shall recommend voting in favor of the Merger Agreement and the Merger in deliberations with his co-trustee regarding the manner in which the Irrevocable Trust Shares are to be voted, with a view to causing the Irrevocable

B-1

Trust Shares to be voted in favor of the Merger Agreement and the Merger at the Stockholders Meeting and at any adjournment of the Stockholders Meeting.

During the term of this Agreement, Stockholder shall not:

- (a) enter into any voting agreement, or give any Person a proxy or power of attorney violative with Stockholder's obligations under this Agreement, in respect of the Direct Shares or the Voting Trust Shares, but subject in all cases to any fiduciary or similar duties, obligations or laws relating to Stockholder's status as a trustee;
- (b) permit the Holding Company to enter into any voting agreement, or give any Person a proxy or power of attorney violative with Stockholder's obligations under this Agreement, in respect of the Indirect Shares; or
- (c) agree or consent to have any of the Irrevocable Trust Shares become subject to a voting agreement or a proxy or power of attorney violative with Stockholder's obligations under this Agreement, but subject in all cases to any fiduciary or similar duties, obligations or laws relating to

Stockholder's status as a trustee.

3. Transfers

During the term of this Agreement, Stockholder shall not sell, transfer or otherwise encumber ("Transfer") ownership or control of any of the Direct Shares, or permit the Holding Company to Transfer ownership or control of any of the Indirect Shares, otherwise than in accordance with the terms of the Merger, unless Stockholder first provides Notice to Parent and MergerSub of the proposed Transfer and delivers to Parent and MergerSub, prior to or concurrently with the proposed Transfer and in form acceptable to Parent and MergerSub, the written agreement of the proposed transferee to be bound by the terms of this Agreement in respect of the Direct or Indirect Shares transferred.

During the term of this Agreement, but subject in all cases to any fiduciary or similar duties, obligations or laws relating to Stockholder's status as a trustee, if the Voting Trust authorizes Stockholder, as the sole trustee, to Transfer Voting Trust Shares, Stockholder shall not exercise this authority, otherwise than in accordance with the terms of the Merger, unless Stockholder first provides Notice to Parent and MergerSub of the proposed Transfer and delivers to Parent and MergerSub, prior to or concurrently with the proposed Transfer and in form acceptable to Parent and MergerSub, the written agreement of the proposed transferee to be bound by the terms of this Agreement in respect of the Voting Trust Shares transferred.

During the term of this Agreement, but subject in all cases to any fiduciary or similar duties, obligations or laws relating to Stockholder's status as a trustee, Stockholder shall not propose to his co-trustee a Transfer of any of the Trust Shares otherwise than in accordance with the terms of the Merger, and shall oppose the Transfer of any of the Trust Shares in deliberations with his co-Trustee regarding any Transfer proposed by the co-trustee otherwise than in accordance with the terms of the Merger.

4. Term

This Agreement shall terminate on the first of the following times or events to occur:

- (a) the Effective Time;
- (b) the termination of the Merger Agreement pursuant to Sections 8.1, 8.2 or 8.3 of the Merger Agreement;
 - (c) if the Merger Agreement becomes terminable pursuant to Section 8.2(a) or 8.3(a);

B-2

- (d) if (i) Parent or MergerSub has breached a material representation, warranty or obligation under the Merger Agreement or upon the failure of any Company Closing Condition and
 (ii) Company's board of directors or the Special Committee withdraws or materially and adversely to Parent modifies its approval of the Merger Agreement and the Merger or its recommendation to the Stockholders;
- (e) solely with respect to the Voting Trust Shares, upon the termination of the Voting Trust pursuant to its terms; or
- (f) solely with respect to the Irrevocable Trust Shares, upon the termination of the Irrevocable Trust pursuant to its terms.

Upon the termination of this Agreement, all of Stockholder's obligations under this Agreement shall terminate.

5. Specific Performance

If for any reason Stockholder fails to perform any of his obligations under this Agreement, Parent and MergerSub shall be entitled, as their sole remedy for Stockholder's failure, to specific performance and injunctive relief.

6. Notices

All notices and other communications under this Agreement ("Notices") shall be in writing and sent by certified or registered mail, overnight messenger service, personal delivery or facsimile transmission, as follows:

(a) if to Stockholder, to:

Robert P. Scherer, Jr. 4403 Northside Parkway, Suite 1103 Atlanta, Georgia 30327

with a copy to counsel, if designated by Stockholder

(b) if to Parent and MergerSub, to:

Stericycle, Inc. 21861 North Keith Drive Lake Forest, Illinois 60045 Attention: Mr. Mark C. Miller Facsimile: (847) 367-9462

with a copy to counsel to:

Johnson and Colmar 300 South Wacker Drive, Suite 1000 Chicago, Illinois 60606 Attention: Craig P. Colmar. Esq.

Facsimile: (312) 922-9283

All Notices sent by certified or registered mail shall be considered to have been given three business days after being deposited in the mail. All Notices sent by overnight courier service or personal delivery shall be considered to have been given when actually received by the intended recipient. All notices sent by facsimile transmission shall be considered to have been given when transmitted with confirmation that transmission was made, so long as a copy was also sent on the same day in either of the manners provided in the sentence immediately preceding this sentence. A party

B-3

may change its or his address or facsimile number for purposes of this Agreement by Notice in accordance with this Paragraph 6.

7. Construction

As the context requires:

- (a) the term "Direct Shares" includes all shares of Company Common Stock that Stockholder may acquire after the date of this Agreement;
- (b) the term "Indirect Shares" includes all shares of Company Common Stock that Holding Company may acquire after the date of this Agreement;

- (c) the term "Voting Trust Shares" includes all shares of Company Common Stock that the Voting Trust may acquire after the date of this Agreement; and
- (d) the term "Irrevocable Trust Shares" includes all shares of Company Common Stock that the Irrevocable Trust may acquire after the date of this Agreement.

8. No Ownership Rights

Nothing in this Voting Agreement shall be considered to vest in Parent or MergerSub any direct or indirect ownership or incidence of ownership of any of the Direct Shares, Indirect Shares, Voting Trust Shares or Irrevocable Trust Shares.

9. Counterparts

This Agreement may be executed in one or more counterparts, each of which shall be considered an original copy of this Agreement and all of which, when taken together, shall be considered to constitute one and the same agreement.

10. Governing Law; Jurisdiction

This Agreement shall be governed and construed in accordance with the laws of the State of Delaware, without regard to the laws that might be applicable under conflicts of law principles.

Each of the parties hereto hereby irrevocably and unconditionally submits, for itself and its property, to the exclusive jurisdiction of any Delaware State court, or Federal court of the United States of America, sitting in Delaware, and any appellate court from any thereof, in any action or proceeding arising out of or relating to this Agreement or the agreements delivered in connection herewith or the transactions contemplated hereby or thereby or for recognition or enforcement of any judgment relating thereto, and each of the parties hereby irrevocably and unconditionally (i) agrees not to commence any such action or proceeding except in such courts, (ii) agrees that any claim in respect of any such action or proceeding may be heard and determined in such Delaware State court or, to the extent permitted by law, in such Federal court, (iii) waives, to the fullest extent it may legally and effectively do so, any objection which it may now or hereafter have to the laying of venue of any such action or proceeding in any such Delaware State or Federal court, and (iv) waives, to the fullest extent permitted by law, the defense of an inconvenient forum to the maintenance of such action or proceeding in any such Delaware State or Federal court. Each of the parties hereto agrees that a final judgment in any such action or proceeding shall be conclusive and may be enforced in other jurisdictions by suit on the judgment or in any other manner provided by law. Each party to this Agreement irrevocably consents to service of process in the manner provided for notices in Section 6. Nothing in this Agreement will affect the right of any party to this Agreement to serve process in any other manner permitted by law.

B-4

11. Binding Effect

This Agreement shall apply to, be binding in all respects upon and inure to the benefit of parties and their respective heirs, legal representatives, successors and permitted assigns.

12. Irrevocable Proxy

Stockholder, for consideration received, hereby appoints Mark C. Miller and Frank J.M. ten Brink and each of them as his proxies, with full power of substitution in each of them, to cast on his behalf all votes entitled to be cast by Stockholder with respect to the Direct Shares, the Indirect Shares, the Voting Trust Shares and the Irrevocable Trust Shares (subject in all cases to any fiduciary or similar duties, obligations, limitations or laws relating to Stockholder's status as a trustee with respect to the Voting Trust Shares and the Irrevocable Trust Shares) at the Stockholders Meeting and at any adjournment thereof "FOR" approval and adoption of the Merger Agreement and the Merger. This proxy is coupled with an interest and is

irrevocable until such time as this Agreement terminates in accordance with its terms.

In witness, the parties hereto have executed this Agreement.

Stericycle, Inc.

By: /s/ MARK C. MILLER

Name: Mark C. Miller

Title: President/CEO

Sharps Acquisition Corporation

By: /s/ MARK C. MILLER

Name: Mark C. Miller

/s/ ROBERT P. SCHERER, JR.

President/CEO

Robert P. Scherer, Jr. B-5

Title:

ANNEX C

October 19, 2002

Special Committee of the Board of Directors Scherer Healthcare, Inc. 120 Interstate North Parkway, S.E. Suite 305 Atlanta, GA 30339

Gentlemen:

We understand that Scherer Healthcare, Inc., a Delaware corporation, ("Scherer" or the "Company") has entered into a Plan of Merger ("Agreement"), with Stericycle, Inc., a Delaware corporation, ("Stericycle" or "Parent") and wholly owned subsidiary of Parent ("MergerSub"). The Agreement contemplates a transaction in which Parent will acquire all of the outstanding capital stock of the Company for cash through a reverse merger of MergerSub with and into the Company (the "Merger"). The consideration to be paid for each share of the Company's common stock (the "Common Stock") in the Merger is \$8.57 in cash, together with \$8.57 in cash for each option share, and the consideration to be paid for each share of the Company's Preferred Series A Stock (the "Preferred Stock") is \$100.00, together with an amount equal to cumulative dividends, if any, accrued and unpaid on such shares through the closing date. The Company had 4,390,264 shares of Common Stock, 245,692 options shares (net after cashless exercise) and 17,666 shares of Preferred Stock issued and outstanding as of September 30, 2002. Such transaction and all related transactions are referred to collectively herein as the "Transaction." The Board of Directors has formed a special committee (the "Committee") to consider the Transaction and alternatives thereto.

You have requested our opinion (the "Opinion") as to the matters set forth below. The Opinion does not address the Company's underlying business decision to effect the Transaction. We have not been requested

to, and did not, solicit third party indications of interest in acquiring all or any part of the Company. Furthermore, we have not negotiated the Transaction or advised you with respect to alternatives to it.

In connection with this Opinion, we have made such reviews, analyses and inquiries as we have deemed necessary and appropriate under the circumstances. Among other things, we have:

1.
reviewed the Company's annual reports to shareholders on Form 10-K for the fiscal years ended 1999, 2000, 2001 and quarterly reports on Form 10-Q for the quarters ended June 30, 2002, as well as an unaudited consolidated balance sheet for the Company as of September 30, 2002, which as of this Opinion, the Company's management has identified as being the most current financial statements available;

2. reviewed copies of the following agreements:

Draft Agreement and Plan of Merger dated October 16, 2002;

Certificate of Designation of Preferred Stock Designated "Series A Cumulative Convertible Preferred Stock";

Draft Voting Agreement dated October 7, 2002;

- reviewed the Notice of Annual Meeting and Proxy Statement, dated September 18, 2002;
- 4. conversed with certain members of the senior management of the Company to discuss the operations, financial condition, future prospects and projected operations and performance of the Company, and met with representatives of the Company's independent accounting firm, investment bankers and counsel to discuss certain matters;

C-1

- 5. reviewed forecasts and projections prepared by the Company's management with respect to the Company for the years ended March 31, 2003 through 2007;
- reviewed the historical market prices and trading volume for the Company's publicly traded securities:
- 7.

 reviewed certain other publicly available financial data for certain companies that we deem comparable to the Company, and publicly available prices and premiums paid in other transactions that we considered similar to the Transaction;
- 8.

 reviewed drafts of certain documents to be delivered at the signing or closing of the Transaction including a Non-compete Agreement and a Consulting Agreement to be entered into by Robert P. Scherer, Jr.; and
- 9. conducted such other studies, analyses and inquiries as we have deemed appropriate.

We have relied upon and assumed, without independent verification, that the financial forecasts and projections provided to us have been reasonably prepared and reflect the best currently available estimates of the future financial results and condition of the Company, and that there has been no material change in the

assets, financial condition, business or prospects of the Company since the date of the most recent financial statements made available to us.

We have not independently verified the accuracy and completeness of the information supplied to us with respect to the Company and do not assume any responsibility with respect to it. We have not made any physical inspection or independent appraisal of any of the properties or assets of the Company. Our opinion is necessarily based on business, economic, market and other conditions as they exist and can be evaluated by us at the date of this letter.

Based upon the foregoing, and in reliance thereon, it is our opinion that the consideration to be received by the holders of the Common Stock in the Merger is fair to such holders from a financial point of view.

/s/ HOULIHAN LOKEY HOWARD & ZUKIN FINANCIAL ADVISORS, INC.

C-2

ANNEX D

SECTION 262 OF THE DELAWARE GENERAL CORPORATION LAW

SECTION 262. APPRAISAL RIGHTS.

- (a) Any stockholder of a corporation of this State who holds shares of stock on the date of the making of a demand pursuant to subsection (d) of this section with respect to such shares, who continuously holds such shares through the effective date of the merger or consolidation, who has otherwise complied with subsection (d) of this section and who has neither voted in favor of the merger or consolidation nor consented thereto in writing pursuant to section 228 of this title shall be entitled to an appraisal by the Court of Chancery of the fair value of the stockholder's shares of stock under the circumstances described in subsections (b) and (c) of this section. As used in this section, the word "stockholder" means a holder of record of stock in a stock corporation and also a member of record of a nonstock corporation; the words "stock" and "share" mean and include what is ordinarily meant by those words and also membership or membership interest of a member of a nonstock corporation; and the words "depository receipt" mean a receipt or other instrument issued by a depository representing an interest in one or more shares, or fractions thereof, solely of stock of a corporation, which stock is deposited with the depository.
- (b) Appraisal rights shall be available for the shares of any class or series of stock of a constituent corporation in a merger or consolidation to be effected pursuant to section 251 (other than a merger effected pursuant to section 251(g) of this title), section 252, section 254, section 257, section 258, section 263 or section 264 of this title:
 - (1) Provided, however, that no appraisal rights under this section shall be available for the shares of any class or series of stock, which stock, or depository receipts in respect thereof, at the record date fixed to determine the stockholders entitled to receive notice of and to vote at the meeting of stockholders to act upon the agreement of merger or consolidation, were either (i) listed on a national securities exchange or designated as a national market system security on an interdealer quotation system by the National Association of Securities Dealers, Inc. or (ii) held of record by more than 2,000 holders; and further provided that no appraisal rights shall be available for any shares of stock of the constituent corporation surviving a merger if the merger did not require for its approval the vote of the stockholders of the surviving corporation as provided in subsection (f) of section 251 of this title.
 - (2) Notwithstanding paragraph (1) of this subsection, appraisal rights under this section shall be available for the shares of any class or series of stock of a constituent corporation if the holders thereof are required by the terms of an agreement of merger or consolidation pursuant to sections 251, 252, 254, 257, 258, 263 and 264 of this title to accept for such stock anything except:

- a. Shares of stock of the corporation surviving or resulting from such merger or consolidation, or depository receipts in respect thereof;
- b. Shares of stock of any other corporation, or depository receipts in respect thereof, which shares of stock (or depository receipts in respect thereof) or depository receipts at the effective date of the merger or consolidation will be either listed on a national securities exchange or designated as a national market system security on an interdealer quotation system by the National Association of Securities Dealers, Inc. or held of record by more than 2,000 holders;
- c. Cash in lieu of fractional shares or fractional depository receipts described in the foregoing subparagraphs a. and b. of this paragraph; or

D-1

- d. Any combination of the shares of stock, depository receipts and cash in lieu of fractional shares or fractional depository receipts described in the foregoing subparagraphs a., b. and c. of this paragraph.
- (3) In the event all of the stock of a subsidiary Delaware corporation party to a merger effected under section 253 of this title is not owned by the parent corporation immediately prior to the merger, appraisal rights shall be available for the shares of the subsidiary Delaware corporation.
- (c) Any corporation may provide in its certificate of incorporation that appraisal rights under this section shall be available for the shares of any class or series of its stock as a result of an amendment to its certificate of incorporation, any merger or consolidation in which the corporation is a constituent corporation or the sale of all or substantially all of the assets of the corporation. If the certificate of incorporation contains such a provision, the procedures of this section, including those set forth in subsections (d) and (e) of this section, shall apply as nearly as is practicable.
 - (d) Appraisal rights shall be perfected as follows:
 - (1) If a proposed merger or consolidation for which appraisal rights are provided under this section is to be submitted for approval at a meeting of stockholders, the corporation, not less than 20 days prior to the meeting, shall notify each of its stockholders who was such on the record date for such meeting with respect to shares for which appraisal rights are available pursuant to subsection (b) or (c) hereof that appraisal rights are available for any or all of the shares of the constituent corporations, and shall include in such notice a copy of this section. Each stockholder electing to demand the appraisal of such stockholder's shares shall deliver to the corporation, before the taking of the vote on the merger or consolidation, a written demand for appraisal of such stockholder's shares. Such demand will be sufficient if it reasonably informs the corporation of the identity of the stockholder and that the stockholder intends thereby to demand the appraisal of such stockholder's shares. A proxy or vote against the merger or consolidation shall not constitute such a demand. A stockholder electing to take such action must do so by a separate written demand as herein provided. Within 10 days after the effective date of such merger or consolidation, the surviving or resulting corporation shall notify each stockholder of each constituent corporation who has complied with this subsection and has not voted in favor of or consented to the merger or consolidation of the date that the merger or consolidation has become effective; or
 - (2) If the merger or consolidation was approved pursuant to section 228 or section 253 of this title, then, either a constituent corporation before the effective date of the merger or consolidation, or the surviving or resulting corporation within ten days thereafter, shall notify each of the holders of any class or series of stock of such constituent corporation who are entitled to appraisal rights of the approval of the merger or consolidation and that appraisal rights are available for any or all shares of such class or series of stock of such constituent corporation, and shall include in such

notice a copy of this section. Such notice may, and, if given on or after the effective date of the merger or consolidation, shall, also notify such stockholders of the effective date of the merger or consolidation. Any stockholder entitled to appraisal rights may, within 20 days after the date of mailing of such notice, demand in writing from the surviving or resulting corporation the appraisal of such holder's shares. Such demand will be sufficient if it reasonably informs the corporation of the identity of the stockholder and that the stockholder intends thereby to demand the appraisal of such holder's shares. If such notice did not notify stockholders of the effective date of the merger or consolidation, either

(i) each such constituent corporation shall send a second notice before the effective date of the merger or consolidation notifying each of the holders of any class or series of stock of

D-2

such constituent corporation that are entitled to appraisal rights of the effective date of the merger or consolidation or

- (ii) the surviving or resulting corporation shall send such a second notice to all such holders on or within 10 days after such effective date; provided, however, that if such second notice is sent more than 20 days following the sending of the first notice, such second notice need only be sent to each stockholder who is entitled to appraisal rights and who has demanded appraisal of such holder's shares in accordance with this subsection. An affidavit of the secretary or assistant secretary or of the transfer agent of the corporation that is required to give either notice that such notice has been given shall, in the absence of fraud, be prima facie evidence of the facts stated therein. For purposes of determining the stockholders entitled to receive notice, each constituent corporation may fix, in advance, a record date that shall be not more than 10 days prior to the date the notice is given, provided, that if the notice is given on or after the effective date of the merger or consolidation, the record date shall be such effective date. If no record date is fixed and the notice is given prior to the effective date, the record shall be the close of business on the day next preceding the day on which the notice is given.
- (e) Within 120 days after the effective date of the merger or consolidation, the surviving or resulting corporation or any stockholder who has complied with subsections (a) and (d) hereof and who is otherwise entitled to appraisal rights, may file a petition in the Court of Chancery demanding a determination of the value of the stock of all such stockholders. Notwithstanding the foregoing, at any time within 60 days after the effective date of the merger or consolidation, any stockholder shall have the right to withdraw such stockholder's demand for appraisal and to accept the terms offered upon the merger or consolidation. Within 120 days after the effective date of the merger or consolidation, any stockholder who has complied with the requirements of subsections (a) and (d) hereof, upon written request, shall be entitled to receive from the corporation surviving the merger or resulting from the consolidation a statement setting forth the aggregate number of shares not voted in favor of the merger or consolidation and with respect to which demands for appraisal have been received and the aggregate number of holders of such shares. Such written statement shall be mailed to the stockholder within 10 days after such stockholder's written request for such a statement is received by the surviving or resulting corporation or within 10 days after expiration of the period for delivery of demands for appraisal under subsection (d) hereof, whichever is later.
- (f) Upon the filing of any such petition by a stockholder, service of a copy thereof shall be made upon the surviving or resulting corporation, which shall within 20 days after such service file in the office of the Register in Chancery in which the petition was filed a duly verified list containing the names and addresses of all stockholders who have demanded payment for their shares and with whom agreements as to the value of their shares have not been reached by the surviving or resulting corporation. If the petition shall be filed by the surviving or resulting corporation, the petition shall be accompanied by such a duly verified list. The Register in Chancery, if so ordered by the Court, shall give notice of the time and place fixed for the hearing of such petition by registered or certified mail to the surviving or resulting corporation and to the stockholders shown on the list at the addresses therein stated. Such notice shall also be given by 1 or more publications at least 1 week before the day of the hearing, in a newspaper of general circulation published in the City of Wilmington, Delaware or such publication as the Court deems advisable. The forms of the

notices by mail and by publication shall be approved by the court, and the costs thereof shall be borne by the surviving or resulting corporation.

(g) At the hearing on such petition, the Court shall determine the stockholders who have complied with this section and who have become entitled to appraisal rights. The Court may require the stockholders who have demanded an appraisal for their shares and who hold stock represented by certificates to submit their certificates of stock to the Register in Chancery for notation thereon of the

D-3

pendency of the appraisal proceedings; and if any stockholder fails to comply with such direction, the Court may dismiss the proceedings as to such stockholder.

- (h) After determining the stockholders entitled to an appraisal, the Court shall appraise the shares, determining their fair value exclusive of any element of value arising from the accomplishment or expectation of the merger or consolidation, together with a fair rate of interest, if any, to be paid upon the amount determined to be the fair value. In determining such fair value, the Court shall take into account all relevant factors. In determining the fair rate of interest, the Court may consider all relevant factors, including the rate of interest which the surviving or resulting corporation would have had to pay to borrow money during the pendency of the proceeding. Upon application by the surviving or resulting corporation or by any stockholder entitled to participate in the appraisal proceeding, the Court may, in its discretion, permit discovery or other pretrial proceedings and may proceed to trial upon the appraisal prior to the final determination of the stockholder entitled to an appraisal. Any stockholder whose name appears on the list filed by the surviving or resulting corporation pursuant to subsection (f) of this section and who has submitted such stockholder's certificates of stock to the Register in Chancery, if such is required, may participate fully in all proceedings until it is finally determined that such stockholder is not entitled to appraisal rights under this section.
- (i) The Court shall direct the payment of the fair value of the shares, together with interest, if any, by the surviving or resulting corporation to the stockholders entitled thereto. Interest may be simple or compound, as the Court may direct. Payment shall be so made to each such stockholder, in the case of holders of uncertificated stock forthwith, and the case of holders of shares represented by certificates upon the surrender to the corporation of the certificates representing such stock. The Court's decree may be enforced as other decrees in the Court of Chancery may be enforced, whether such surviving or resulting corporation be a corporation of this State or of any state.
- (j) The costs of the proceeding may be determined by the Court and taxed upon the parties as the Court deems equitable in the circumstances. Upon application of a stockholder, the Court may order all or a portion of the expenses incurred by any stockholder in connection with the appraisal proceeding, including, without limitation, reasonable attorney's fees and the fees and expenses of experts, to be charged pro rata against the value of all the shares entitled to an appraisal.
- (k) From and after the effective date of the merger or consolidation, no stockholder who has demanded appraisal rights as provided in subsection (d) of this section shall be entitled to vote such stock for any purpose or to receive payment of dividends or other distributions on the stock (except dividends or other distributions payable to stockholders of record at a date which is prior to the effective date of the merger or consolidation); provided, however, that if no petition for an appraisal shall be filed within the time provided in subsection (e) of this section, or if such stockholder shall deliver to the surviving or resulting corporation a written withdrawal of such stockholder's demand for an appraisal and an acceptance of the merger or consolidation, either within 60 days after the effective date of the merger or consolidation as provided in subsection (e) of this section or thereafter with the written approval of the corporation, then the right of such stockholder to an appraisal shall cease. Notwithstanding the foregoing, no appraisal proceeding in the Court of Chancery shall be dismissed as to any stockholder without the approval of the Court, and such approval may be conditioned upon such terms as the Court deems just.
- (l) The shares of the surviving or resulting corporation to which the shares of such objecting stockholders would have been converted had they assented to the merger or consolidation shall have the status of authorized and unissued shares of the surviving or resulting corporation.

ANNEX E

Noncompetition Agreement

This Agreement is entered into as of October 19, 2002 by Stericycle, Inc., a Delaware corporation ("*Parent*"), and Robert P. Scherer, Jr., a Georgia resident ("*Officer*").

Background:

- A. Concurrently with the execution of this Agreement, Parent, Sharps Acquisition Corporation, a Delaware corporation and wholly owned subsidiary of Parent ("MergerSub"), and Scherer Healthcare, Inc., a Delaware corporation ("Company"), have entered into an agreement and plan of merger (the "Merger Agreement").
- B. The Merger Agreement contemplates a transaction (the "Merger") in which Parent will acquire all of Company's outstanding capital stock for cash through a reverse merger of MergerSub with and into Company.
- C. Officer has been chairman of the board of directors of Company and Company's chief executive officer since February 1995, its president since May 1998 and a director since 1977. He is also a principal stockholder of Company.
- D. In view of Officer's knowledge, experience, judgment and access to substantial financial resources, Parent wants assurances that Officer will not directly or indirectly compete with Parent following consummation of the Merger. Officer is willing to provide these assurances on the following terms.

Now, therefore, in consideration of their mutual promises and intending to be legally bound, the Parties agree as follows:

1. **Definitions**

Certain capitalized terms used in this Agreement are defined either in this Agreement or in the attached **Exhibit A**. Any capitalized term used in this Agreement or in **Exhibit A** without being so defined has the same meaning that it has in the Merger Agreement (which, solely for this purpose, is incorporated in this Agreement by reference).

2. Effective Date

- (a) This Agreement shall not be effective until the Effective Time. At the Effective Time, this Agreement shall become effective automatically, without the necessity of any further action by either Party. (The date on which this Agreement becomes effective is the "Effective Date.")
- (b) Pending consummation of the Merger, neither Party may unilaterally terminate, revoke, modify or amend this Agreement. This Agreement shall be terminated automatically, without the necessity of any further action by either Party, and without any liability of any kind on the part of either Party, if the Merger Agreement is terminated prior to the Effective Time in accordance with its terms.

3. Noncompetition Covenant

- (a) During the period beginning on the Effective Date and ending on the fifth (5th) anniversary of the Effective Date (the "*Covenant Period*"), Officer shall not directly or indirectly do any of the following things, regardless of the Capacity in which Officer is acting (these restrictions on Officer constituting his "*Noncompetition Covenant*"):
 - accept employment with, engage in, acquire any form of financial interest in, or render compensated or uncompensated advisory or other services to any Competing Business

E-1

(but this restriction shall not apply to Officer's direct or indirect beneficial ownership of not more than 2% of the issued and outstanding stock of any corporation whose stock is available to the general public on a national securities exchange or the Nasdaq National Market System);

- (2) solicit or attempt to solicit for a Competing Business any customer or account of or with which a Target Company did business at any time during the three-year period ending on the Effective Date; and
- (3) solicit for employment or hire away any employee of a Target Company, or any employee of Parent or another Parent Subsidiary who is an employee of a Target Company, regardless of whether the employee is full-time, part-time or temporary, or is employed on an "at will" basis or pursuant to a written agreement.
- (b) The duration of the Covenant Period shall be extended for a period equal to the duration of any period of violation of Officer's Noncompetition Covenant.
- (c) As provided in Paragraph 5(c), the duration of the Covenant Period may be reduced by any court of competent jurisdiction in which Parent seeks to enforce the Noncompetition Covenant to the maximum period that the court considers reasonable in light of the circumstances in which the Parties entered into this Agreement.

4. Payments

- (a) In consideration of Officer's Noncompetition Covenant, Parent shall pay Officer as follows:
 - (1) Parent will pay \$195,000 to Officer on the Effective Date; and
 - (2) Parent will pay \$195,000 to Officer on each of the first (1st) through fourth (4th) anniversaries of the Effective Date (or on the last business day preceding the first (1st) through fourth (4th) anniversaries, as the case may be, if any such anniversary date is not a business day).
- (b) If Parent fails to make any payment described in Paragraph 4(a) (a "*Payment*") when due, interest shall accrue on the delinquent amount until paid at a fluctuating rate equal at all times to three percent (3%) above the rate of interest that Bank of America, N.A. announces as its prime or equivalent rate of interest (the "*Prime Rate*").
- (c) If Parent fails to make any Payment when due, and the default continues for fifteen (15) days after Officer gives Notice of the default to Parent, Officer may accelerate the remaining Payments and declare them to be immediately due and payable, by Notice of acceleration given to Parent. Interest shall accrue on the accelerated amount until paid at a fluctuating rate equal at all times to three percent (3%) above the Prime Rate. Officer's acceleration of the remaining Payments shall not terminate his Noncompetition Covenant.

- (d) In the event of Officer's death prior to the expiration of the Covenant Period, Parent shall make the remaining Payments, when it would have made them to Officer, to Officer's estate or as Officer may have directed otherwise in the last Notice of directions that Parent received from Officer prior to his death.
- (e) If there has been a breach by Officer of the Noncompetition Covenant, which is not cured within thirty (30) days after written notice of such breach is given by Parent to Officer, Parent shall not be required to make any Payment to Officer payable to Officer after Officer has violated the Noncompetition Covenant.
- (f) All amounts payable by Parent to Officer under this Paragraph 4 shall be paid by wire transfers to the bank account designated by Officer in wire transfer instructions delivered to Parent

E-2

no later than two (2) business days prior to the Effective Date (as Officer may change these instructions by Notice to Parent).

5. Enforcement of Noncompetition Covenant

- (a) The Parties stipulate and agree that any violation by Officer of the Noncompetition Covenant would result in immediate and irreparable injury and harm to Parent unless injunctive relief were granted, and that money damages for the violation would be both difficult to determine and inadequate to compensate Parent for its injury.
- (b) Officer accordingly agrees that in the event that he violates his Noncompetition Covenant, Parent shall be entitled to obtain a temporary restraining order and a preliminary and permanent injunction to prevent Officer's continued violation, without the necessity of proving actual damages or posting any bond or security. This right to injunctive relief shall be in addition to the right to terminate payments under Paragraph 4(e) and any other remedies to which Parent may be entitled. If Parent prevails in its lawsuit against Officer, Officer shall pay Parent's attorneys' fees and court costs in prosecuting its lawsuit.
- (c) Officer stipulates and agrees that if the court in which Parent seeks injunctive relief determines that the Noncompetition Covenant is too broad in scope or territorial application to be legally valid and enforceable, or that the duration of the Noncompetition Covenant is too long to be legally valid and enforceable, the scope, area or duration may be reduced to limits that the court considers reasonable and, as so reduced, the restriction may be enforced against Officer.

6. Notices

Each notice or other communication under this Agreement (a "Notice") shall be in writing and sent by certified or registered mail, overnight messenger service, personal delivery or facsimile transmission, as follows:

(a) if to Parent, to:

Stericycle, Inc. 21861 North Keith Drive Lake Forest, Illinois 60045 Attention: Mr. Mark C. Miller Facsimile: (847) 367-9462

with a copy to:

Johnson and Colmar 300 South Wacker Drive, Suite 1000 Chicago, Illinois 60606 Attention: Craig P. Colmar. Esq.

Facsimile: (312) 922-9283

(b) if to Officer, to:

Robert P. Scherer, Jr. 4403 Northside Parkway, Suite 1103 Atlanta, Georgia 30327

with a copy to counsel, if designated by Officer.

All Notices sent by certified or registered mail shall be considered to have been given three business days after being deposited in the mail. All Notices sent by overnight courier service or personal delivery shall be considered to have been given when actually received by the intended recipient. All notices sent by facsimile transmission shall be considered to have been given when

E-3

transmitted with confirmation that transmission was made, so long as a copy was also sent on the same day in either of the manners provided in the sentence immediately preceding this sentence. A Party may change its or their address or facsimile number for purposes of this Agreement by Notice in accordance with this Paragraph 6.

7. Severability

If any provision of this Agreement is held invalid, illegal or unenforceable by a court of competent jurisdiction, the provision shall be severed and the other provisions of this Agreement shall remain in full force and effect. Any severed provision of this Agreement shall be judicially modified to the minimum extent necessary in order to render it valid, legal and enforceable while accomplishing the intent of the provision as nearly as may be practicable.

8. Governing Law

- (a) This Agreement shall be governed by the Laws of the State of Illinois, where Parent's principal executive offices are located, without regard to Illinois conflicts of law principles. Officer acknowledges that Parent believes that the Noncompetition Covenant may be more readily enforced under Illinois Law than under Georgia Law; and in order to provide additional assurance to Parent, Officer has agreed, despite Officer's residence in the State of Georgia, to the application of Illinois Law to the interpretation and enforcement of this Agreement.
- (b) Officer consents to the enforcement of this Agreement in the United States District Court for the Northern District of Illinois, the United States District Court for the Northern District of Georgia, the Circuit Court of Cook County, Illinois, and the Superior Court of Fulton County, Georgia, and consents to the personal jurisdiction of those courts.

9. Miscellaneous

- (a) Each Party has had the opportunity to obtain and has obtained the advice of independent legal counsel prior to entering into this Agreement.
- (b) This Agreement is the product of negotiation by the Parties, and shall not be construed for or against either Party on the basis of draftsmanship.

(c) This Agreement shall apply to, be binding in all respects upon and inure to the benefit of Parties and their respective heirs, legal representatives and successors.

In witness, the Parties have executed this Agreement.

C+0		مام	Inc.
ou	TIC	veie,	mc.

By: /s/ MARK C. MILLER

Name: Mark C. Miller

Title: President/CEO

/s/ ROBERT P. SCHERER, JR.

Robert P. Scherer, Jr.
E-4

Exhibit A

Definitions

Business means a person, proprietorship, partnership, joint venture, limited liability company, corporation, enterprise or other entity.

Capacity means in any capacity, whether as an employee, sole proprietor, partner, joint venturer, limited liability company member, shareholder, consultant, adviser, principal, agent, lender, seller, buyer, supplier, vendor, consultant or in any other capacity or role.

Competing Business means a Business that

- (a) (1) collects, transports, treats or disposes of regulated medical waste, or solicits the collection, transportation, treatment or disposal of regulated medical waste, or
 - (2) provides containment, control, collection and processing services for sharp-edged medical regulated medical waste (or "sharps"), or solicits the provision of containment, control, collection and processing services for sharp-edged regulated medical waste, or
 - (3) provides training and education programs or consulting services relating to activities described in clauses (1) and (2),
 - (4) from or at any location anywhere within a Parent Service Area; or
- (b) engages in the manufacture, marketing or wholesale distribution anywhere in the United States of over-the-counter healthcare products used for the treatment of colds and coughs, eye and ear irritations and insect bites.

Party means Parent or Officer, and Parties means both of them.

Parent Service Area means:

(a) the metropolitan New York City area, and

(b) any other geographic service area in the United States, Canada or Puerto Rico in which Parent or a Parent Subsidiary (i) collects, transports, treats or disposes of regulated medical waste, or solicits the collection, transportation, treatment or disposal of regulated medical waste, or (ii) provides containment, control, collection and processing services for sharp-edged medical regulated medical waste, or solicits the provision of containment, control, collection and processing services for sharp-edged regulated medical waste, or (iii) provides training and education programs or consulting services relating to activities described in clauses (i) and (ii).

Parent Subsidiary means a Target Company and any other corporation or other entity in which Parent has a direct or indirect controlling interest.

E-5

ANNEX F

Consulting Agreement

This Agreement is entered into as of October 19, 2002 by Stericycle, Inc., a Delaware corporation ("*Parent*"), and Robert P. Scherer, Jr., a Georgia resident ("*Officer*").

Background:

- A. Concurrently with the execution of this Agreement, Parent, Sharps Acquisition Corporation, a Delaware corporation and wholly owned subsidiary of Parent ("MergerSub"), and Scherer Healthcare, Inc., a Delaware corporation ("Company") have entered into an agreement and plan of merger (the "Merger Agreement").
- B. The Merger Agreement contemplates a transaction (the "Merger") in which Parent will acquire all of Company's outstanding capital stock for cash through a reverse merger of MergerSub with and into Company.
- C. Officer has been chairman of the board of directors of Company and Company's chief executive officer since February 1995, its president since May 1998 and a director since 1977. He is also a principal stockholder of Company.
- D. In view of Officer's knowledge, experience and judgment, Parent wants Officer to provide consulting services to Parent following consummation of the Merger to assist Parent in exploiting the business opportunities provided by the Company's proprietary reusable sharps container and handling processes. Officer is willing to provide consulting services on the following terms.

Now, therefore, in consideration of their mutual promises and intending to be legally bound, the Parent and Officer agree as follows:

1. Effective Date

- (a) This Agreement shall not be effective until the Effective Time. At the Effective Time, this Agreement shall become effective automatically, without the necessity of any further action by either Party. (The date on which this Agreement becomes effective is the "Effective Date.")
- (b) Pending consummation of the Merger, neither Party may unilaterally terminate, revoke, modify or amend this Agreement. This Agreement shall be terminated automatically, without the necessity of any further action by either Party, and without any liability of any kind on the part of either Party, if the Merger Agreement is terminated prior to the Effective Time in accordance with its terms.

2. Consulting Services

During the term of this Agreement, Officer shall provide consulting services to Parent at its request, subject to the following conditions and limitations:

- (a) Officer's consulting services shall relate to the operation and expansion, by the Company, Parent or an affiliate of Parent, of (i) the Company's sharps container business or (ii) the Company's over-the-counter healthcare products business.
- (b) Officer's consulting services shall be of a nature commensurate with Officer's position and role with the Company immediately prior to the Merger.
- (c) Parent shall provide at least 72 hours' prior notice of any consulting services to be provided by Officer by telephone and at least 21 days' prior notice of any consulting services to be provided by Officer in person.

F-1

- (d) Officer shall not be required to provide consulting services in person at any location other than Atlanta, Georgia, on more than one occasion per month during the first year of this Agreement or on more than one occasion per calendar quarter during each year of the remaining term of this Agreement.
- (e) Consulting services provided in person at a location other than Atlanta, Georgia shall be provided at Parent's executive offices in Lake Forest, Illinois, or at any other location mutually agreeable to Parent and Officer. Parent shall reimburse Officer, upon submission of reasonable supporting documentation, for Officer's reasonable travel, lodging and meal expenses incurred in providing consulting services at a location other than Atlanta, Georgia.
- (f) Officer shall not be required to provide consulting services for more than 100 hours during the first year of this Agreement, for more than 75 hours during the second year of this Agreement, or for more than 50 hours during the each year of the remaining term of this Agreement.
- (g) Officer's reasonable time away from Atlanta shall be counted as hours of consulting services in the case of consulting services provided in person at a location other than Atlanta, Georgia.

3. Consulting Fee

In consideration of Officer's consulting services to be provided under this Agreement, Parent shall pay Officer a consulting fee of \$225,000 on the Effective Date.

4. Term

The term of this Agreement shall be three years, beginning on the Effective Date and ending on the third anniversary of the Effective Date, unless otherwise terminated earlier, as provided below. This Agreement shall automatically terminate and Parent shall have no further obligations hereunder upon the first to occur of (a) Officer's death or (b) Officer's violation of the Non-Competition Agreement, entered into on October 19, 2002 by and between Officer and Parent or (c) Officer's failure to provide consulting services as required under the terms of this Agreement. If this Agreement is terminated before the third anniversary of the Effective Date, Officer shall be required to repay a pro-rata portion of the consulting fee corresponding to the maximum number of hours of service Officer is required to perform under Section 2(f) under this Agreement. (For example, if Officer breaches this Agreement after the first anniversary of the Effective Date, but before the Second Anniversary of the Effective Date, Officer shall be required to repay

\$125,000 to Parent.) Parent shall have the right to offset any payments otherwise due to Officer under any other agreement by any amounts owed by Officer to Parent by reason of such repayment obligations.

5. Relationship

Officer shall be an independent contractor and not an employee of Parent, and nothing in this Agreement shall be construed to create an employment relationship between Parent and Officer.

F-2

6. Notices

Each notice or other communication under this Agreement (a "notice") shall be in writing and sent by certified or registered mail, overnight messenger service, personal delivery or facsimile transmission, as follows:

(a) if to Parent, to:

Stericycle, Inc. 21861 North Keith Drive Lake Forest, Illinois 60045 Attention: Mr. Mark C. Miller Facsimile: (847) 367-9462

(b) if to Officer, to:

Robert P. Scherer, Jr. 4403 Northside Parkway, Suite 1103 Atlanta, Georgia 30327

In this regard:

- (a) all notices sent by certified or registered mail shall be considered to have been given three business days after being deposited in the mail;
- (b) all notices sent by overnight courier service or personal delivery shall be considered to have been given when actually received by the intended recipient; and
- (c) all notices sent by facsimile transmission shall be considered to have been given when transmitted with confirmation that transmission was made, so long as a copy was also sent on the same day in either manner described in the preceding clauses (a) and (b).

A party may change its or his address or facsimile number for purposes of this Agreement by notice in accordance with this Paragraph 6.

7. Amendment

This Agreement may be amended only by a written agreement signed by the parties expressly amending this Agreement's terms.

8. Counterparts

This Agreement may be signed in any number of counterparts, each of which shall be considered an original, but all of which together shall constitute one and the same instrument.

9. Governing Law

This Agreement shall be governed in accordance with the laws of the State of Illinois.

10. Nonassignment

This is a personal services contract. Officer may not assign this Agreement without Parent's express written consent, which may be withheld for any reason.

11. Binding Effect

This Agreement shall be binding on and shall inure to the benefit of the parties and their respective heirs, legal representatives, successors and assigns.

In witness, the Parties have executed this Agreement.

F-3

[SIGNATURE PAGE FOLLOWS]

In witness, the Parties have executed this Agreement.

Stericycle, Inc.

By: /s/ MARK C. MILLER

Name: Mark C. Miller

Title: President/CEO

/s/ ROBERT P. SCHERER, JR.

Robert P. Scherer, Jr.

F-4

REVOCABLE PROXY

COMMON STOCK SCHERER HEALTHCARE, INC.

THIS PROXY IS SOLICITED BY THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS FOR A SPECIAL MEETING OF STOCKHOLDERS

The undersigned hereby appoints Donald P. Zima and Debra Poston, and each of them, proxies, with full power of substitution, to act for and in the name of the undersigned to vote all shares of common stock of Scherer Healthcare, Inc. (the "Company") which the undersigned is entitled to vote at the Special Meeting of Stockholders of the Company (the "Special Meeting"), to be held in the Princeton Hall Room at 4403 Northside Parkway, Atlanta, Georgia 30327, on , 2002, at 10:00 a.m., local time, and at any and all adjournments and postponements thereof, as indicated on the reverse side hereof with respect to all matters set forth in the Proxy Statement, dated , 2002, and all supplements and amendments thereto, and in their discretion upon all matters incident to the conduct of such Special Meeting and all matters presented at the Special Meeting but which are not known to the board of directors of the Company at the time of the solicitation of this proxy. The undersigned hereby revokes any proxy or proxies heretofore given by the undersigned to vote at the Special Meeting or any adjournment or postponement thereof.

The undersigned may elect to withdraw this proxy card at any time prior to its use by giving written notice of such revocation to the Secretary of the Company, by executing and delivering to the Secretary of the Company a duly executed proxy card bearing a later date, or by appearing at the Special Meeting and voting in person. If the undersigned withdraws this proxy in the manner described above and prior to the Special Meeting does not submit a duly executed and later dated proxy card to the Company, the undersigned may vote in person at the Special Meeting all shares of common stock of the Company owned of record by the undersigned as of the record date of , 2002.

Please complete, date and sign on reverse side and mail this proxy card in the enclosed postage-paid envelope.

Please mark, date, and sign this proxy card on the reverse side exactly as your name(s) appear(s) hereon. When shares are held jointly, both holders should sign. When signing as attorney, executor, administrator, trustee, guardian, or custodian, please give your full title. If the holder is a corporation or a partnership, the full corporate or partnership name should be signed by a duly authorized officer.

Scherer	Healthcare.	Inc.

Mark box at right if an address change or comment has been noted on the reverse side of this card.	r 1
	LJ
Mark box at right if you plan to attend the Special Meeting.	[]

The Board of Directors recommends a vote "FOR" the Proposal listed below.

 To approve an agreement and plan of merger, dated October 19, 2002, between Stericycle, Inc., Sharps Acquisition Corporation and Scherer Healthcare, Inc., and the transactions contemplated thereby, including without limitation, the merger of Sharps Acquisition with and into the Company:

o FOR o AGAINST o ABSTAIN
THIS PROXY WILL BE VOTED AS DIRECTED, BUT IF NO DIRECTION IS INDICATED, THE
PROXY WILL BE VOTED FOR THE ABOVE-STATED PROPOSAL.

Date:,	2002
--------	------

Please sign exactly as your name or names appear hereon. For more than one owner as shown above, each should sign. When signing in a fiduciary or representative capacity, please give full title. If this proxy is submitted by a corporation, it should be executed in the full corporate name by a duly authorized officer, if a partnership, please sign in partnership name by authorized person.

PLEASE COMPLETE, DATE AND SIGN THIS PROXY AND RETURN IT PROMPTLY IN THE ENCLOSED ENVELOPE, WHETHER OR NOT YOU PLAN TO ATTEND THE SPECIAL MEETING ON , 2002. IF YOU ATTEND THE SPECIAL MEETING, YOU MAY VOTE IN PERSON IF YOU WISH, EVEN IF YOU HAVE PREVIOUSLY RETURNED YOUR PROXY.

QuickLinks

SCHERER HEALTHCARE, INC.

SCHERER HEALTHCARE, INC.

NOTICE OF SPECIAL MEETING OF STOCKHOLDERS To Be Held, 2002

IMPORTANT

TABLE OF CONTENTS

PROXY STATEMENT FOR A SPECIAL MEETING OF STOCKHOLDERS To Be Held November 15,

2002

SUMMARY TERM SHEET

QUESTIONS ABOUT THE MERGER

THE SPECIAL MEETING

THE COMPANIES

THE MERGER

THE MERGER AGREEMENT

COMMON STOCK OWNERSHIP BY MANAGEMENT AND PRINCIPAL STOCKHOLDERS

FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

FUTURE STOCKHOLDER PROPOSALS

WHERE YOU CAN FIND MORE INFORMATION

ANNEX A

Table of Contents

Agreement and Plan of Merger

Article 1 Definitions

Article 2 The Transaction

Article 3 Representations and Warranties of Company

Article 4 Representations and Warranties of Parent and MergerSub

Article 5 Events Prior to Closing

Article 6 Conditions to Closing

Article 7 Non-Survival of Representations, Warranties and Agreements; No Other Representations and

Warranties

Article 8 Termination, Amendment and Waiver

Article 9 Events Following Merger

Article 10 Miscellaneous

Annex I

Definitions

Exhibit A

Form of Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of Scherer Healthcare, Inc.

Article 1 Name

Article 2 Registered Office and Registered Agent

Article 3 Purpose

Article 4 Capital Stock

Article 5 Duration

Article 6 Bylaws

Article 7 Number of Directors

Article 8 Business Combinations with Interested Stockholders

Article 9 Limitation on Directors' Liability

Article 11 Amendments

ANNEX B

Voting Agreement

ANNEX C

ANNEX D

ANNEX E

Noncompetition Agreement

Exhibit A

Definitions

ANNEX F

Consulting Agreement

REVOCABLE PROXY

Scherer Healthcare, Inc.